
 

B   O   S   T   O   N 
B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 
Joint Chief Executive 

Rob Barlow 
  

 
Municipal Buildings 
Boston 
Lincolnshire   PE21 8QR 
Tel: 01205 314200 
Fax: 01205 364604 

 

 

 

31 August 2021 
 
TO: ALL MEMBERS OF THE CABINET 
 

 
NOTICE OF MEETING OF THE CABINET 

 
Dear Councillor 
 

You are invited to attend a meeting of the Cabinet on 
Wednesday, 8th September, 2021 at 6.30 pm 

in the Committee Room, Municipal Buildings, West Street, Boston PE21 8QR 
 

 
ROB BARLOW 
Joint Chief Executive 
 
Membership: 
 
Leader of the Council – Councillor Paul Skinner 
Deputy Leader – Councillor Nigel Welton 
Councillors Tracey Abbott, Richard Austin BEM, Deborah Evans, Martin Griggs and 
Jonathan Noble 

 

A G E N D A 
 
PART I - PRELIMINARIES 
 

A   MINUTES (Pages 1 - 14) 
 

 To sign and confirm the minutes of the last meeting, held on 23rd June 2021. 
 

B   APOLOGIES  
 

 To receive apologies for absence. 
 

C   DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS  
 

 To receive declarations of interests in respect of any item on the agenda. 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 

D   QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC  
 

 To answer any written questions received from members of the public no later than 
5 p.m. two clear working days prior to the meeting – for this meeting the deadline 
is 5 p.m. on Friday, 3rd September 2021. 
 
 

PART II - AGENDA ITEMS 
 

1   RECOMMENDATIONS FROM OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY (STANDING ITEM)*  
 

2   RECOMMENDATIONS FROM THE BOSTON TOWN AREA COMMITTEE (BTAC) 
(STANDING ITEM)  
 

3   POLICY  AND PROCEDURES ON THE REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY 
POWERS ACT 2000 (RIPA) (Pages 15 - 52) 
 

 (A report by Christian Allen, Assistant Director - Regulation and RIPA Co-

ordinator/SRO) 

Portfolio Holder: Councillor Paul Skinner 

 

4   QUARTER 1 REPORT - PERFORMANCE, PROJECTS, RISK AND FINANCE 
(Pages 53 - 84) 
 

 (A report by Suzanne Rolfe, Transformation Manager, and Tim Sampson, Finance 
Manager) NB: Appendix C is marked to follow 
 
Portfolio Holders: Councillors Paul Skinner and Jonathan Noble  

 

* In accordance with the Constitution, recommendations of Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees referred to Cabinet (if any) shall be included at this point in the 
agenda (unless they have been considered in the context of the Cabinet 
deliberations on a substantive item on the agenda) within six weeks of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee completing its report / recommendations. 

 
Call-In –any decision taken by the Cabinet concerning an item on this agenda can be 
‘called in’ in accordance with the Constitution, within 5 working days of the decision 
notice being published.  It is expected that the decision notice will be published on                                   
Friday 10th September.  Subject to this publication, the deadline for calling in a 
decision is 5 p.m. on Friday, 17th September 2021. 
 

 
Alternative Versions - Should you wish to have the agenda or report in an alternative format 
such as larger text, Braille or a specific language, please contact Democratic Services on 
direct dial (01205) 314227 
 
 
The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is Janette Collier, 
Democratic Services Officer, Tel. no: 01205 314227  e-mail janette.collier@boston.gov.uk 



BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 
NOTICE OF DECISIONS TAKEN BY CABINET ON 23 JUNE 2021 

 
DATE OF PUBLICATION: FRIDAY, 25 JUNE 2021 

 
DEADLINE FOR CALL-IN: FRIDAY, 2 JULY 2021 

 
NOTES: 
 
A COPY OF THE CABINET AGENDA HAS BEEN PREVIOUSLY CIRCULATED TO 
ALL MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL.  IF YOU REQUIRE ANY FURTHER 
INFORMATION ON ANY ISSUE PLEASE CONTACT, IN THE FIRST INSTANCE, THE 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER OR OFFICER NAMED IN THE RIGHT HAND COLUMN. 
 

 
MEETING OF THE CABINET 23 June 2021 
 
 
Present: 
Councillor Paul Skinner, in the Chair 
Councillors Tracey Abbott, Richard Austin BEM, Martin Griggs, Jonathan Noble and 
Nigel Welton 
 
Officers –  
Chief Executive, Assistant Director - Housing & Wellbeing, Assistant Director - Towns 
Fund, Transformation & Governance Manager, Senior Democratic Services Officer and 
Democratic Services Apprentice 
 
1   MINUTES 

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 12 May 2021 were agreed as a correct record and 
signed by the Chairman, subject to an insertion to make it clear that one Member was 
strongly against consideration of the Community Governance Review (Minute No. 160 
refers). 
 
2   APOLOGIES 

 
There were apologies for absence from the Deputy Chief Executive (Place) & Monitoring 
Officer. 
 
3   DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS 

 
No declarations were made. 
 
4   QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 

 
There was a question from a member of the public, Mr Darron Abbott, for the Leader: 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item A



“Please could you let me know how I apply for exemption from being issued penalty 
notices for fly tipping or littering by Boston Borough Council or any of it’s associated 
agencies.” 
 
Response from the Leader: “Thank you for your question. There is no exemption 
process from being issued penalty notices for fly tipping or littering; the Council adopts a 
proportionate approach to enforcement.” 
 
Mr Abbott’s supplementary question was: “The answer seems to confirm that some of 
the residents of Boston are more equal than others by this I mean it appears it depends 
who you are, so if you are an employee of the Council or a friend of an officer you do not 
get fined, but if you are X (91) of X road and you leave a sleeping bag next to a recycle 
bin you do is that correct, isn’t that discrimination?” 

Response from the Leader: “From my perspective there is no discrimination and, to my 
knowledge, everything is dealt with in a fair and proportionate manner.  I believe there 
were some labels spilt out and I believe an apology has been issued.” 
 
5   RECOMMENDATIONS FROM OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY (STANDING 

ITEM)* 
 

Recommendations from Scrutiny were contained within the reports on the agenda. 
 
6   RECOMMENDATIONS FROM THE BOSTON TOWN AREA COMMITTEE 

(BTAC) (STANDING ITEM) 
 

There were no recommendations from BTAC for this meeting.   
 
7   WELCOME BACK FUND - DELEGATION OF SPEND 

 
  

 

DECISION 

 

1. That the Welcome Back Fund activity, as outlined in Appendix A 

and agreed as eligible by MHCLG, be agreed. 

2. That authority to spend the funding of £62,811, in accordance 
with the proposed activities, be delegated to the Assistant 
Director of Economic Growth in consultation with the Portfolio 
Holder - Economic Development and Planning. 

 

Portfolio 

Holders and 

Officer 

 

NW/LR 

 

 

REASON FOR DECISION  

 
The Deputy Leader presented a report, regarding the result of the Council’s bid from the 
Government’s “Welcome Back Fund” and a request for delegated authority for its spend. 
 
Councils across England were receiving a share £56m of this European Regional 
Development Funding (ERDF) to support the return to high streets safely and help build 

Page 2



Cabinet 
23 June 2021 

 

 
 

back better from the pandemic.  This funding built on the £50m Reopening High Street 
Safely Fund (RHSSF) allocated to authorities in 2020 and formed part of wider support the 
Government was providing to communities and businesses. 
 
The fund would allow local authorities in England to put in place additional measures to 
create and promote a safe environment for local trade and tourism, particularly in high 
streets as their economies reopened. The fund supported plans to respond to the significant 
impacts of Covid19 on local economies.  
 
The Council’s plans for the fund allocation of £62,811 were submitted to the Ministry for 
Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) on 28 May following consultation 
with Councillors through a Reserved Member Evening and with a range of stakeholders.  On 
21 June, the Council received confirmation that MHCLG’s Welcome Back project team had 
reviewed the proposals and considered them eligible, as shown in Appendix C. The Council 
could now deliver the interventions set out in Appendix A: Welcome Back Fund activity.  
 
The report requested approval to delegate authority to the Assistant Director of Economic 
Growth, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder - Economic Development and Planning to 
spend the fund allocation in line with the proposed activities. 
 
In response to questions, the Assistant Director - Towns Fund confirmed that the funding 
was the remainder of the ERDF funding stream and had been allocated specifically to 
support the reopening of the high street following the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. 
 
The details of proposed activity, set out in Appendix A, related to the project proposals 
approved by MHCLG and the Council had to ensure that expenditure was made in line with 
those proposals in order to be able to drawdown the funding. 
 
The Leader thanked the team for their dedicated efforts in such a short time frame and 
achieving an extremely successful result.  The process was prescriptive and great care was 
taken when making applications because expenditure had to be in line with the approval. 
 
The Deputy Leader brought Members’ attention to the indicative spend of the contracts 
within the table of proposed activity.  Now that approval had been received, detailed 
expenditure would be worked out and sent to MHCLG for approval as the process went 
along. 
 
Members commended the officers for the success of the bid and welcomed the approved 
funding.  One commented that, although relatively modest projects, they would make a 
noticeable difference.   
 
A Member asked officers to urge MHCLG to provide additional funding to help with problems 
compounded by the lockdown, such as fly tipping, and to extend the offer of free car 
parking, in order to encourage business back into the high street. 
 
The Deputy Leader confirmed that officers lobbied central government robustly and would 
continue to do so.  They always ensured that they submitted high quality applications for 
every funding stream available.  
 
With respect to a suggestion to use social media, particularly one-minute videos, to 
communicate clearly with the eastern European communities, reference was made to 

Page 3



existing community leaders’ meetings and the proposal for communications and public 
information activity, which would include exploration of various platforms to reach wider 
audiences both within and outside of the borough. 
 

 

 

OTHER OPTIONS OR ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED  

 
To do nothing would result in the funding not benefiting Boston’s communities and 
businesses.  The reputation of Boston Borough Council not delivering the proposals as 
submitted would be detrimental to our relationship with the Ministry for Housing, 
Communities and Local Government. 
 
Any delay to the financial profile and timeline indicated in our proposal would have a 
negative impact on the effectiveness of the projects and may impact on the drawdown of the 
fund allocation to Boston Borough Council. 
 

 

 

RECORD OF ANY CONFLICT OF INTEREST  

 

None. 

 

 

RECORD OF ANY DISPENSATION GRANTED  

 

None.  

 
8   ROUGH SLEEPING SERVICES - FUTURE SERVICE DELIVERY 

 
  

 

DECISION 

 

That the proposed in-house delivery from 1 July 2021 of MHCLG-

funded Rough Sleeping Services, as set out in section 7 of the 

report, be approved. 

Portfolio Holders 

and Officer 

 

MG/MH 

 

 

REASON FOR DECISION  

 
The Portfolio Holder for Housing & Communities presented a report regarding the future 
service delivery of Rough Sleeping Services. 
 
Within its Rough Sleeping Strategy, the Government had committed to halve rough sleeping 
by 2022 and end it by 2027. As part of this, the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government (MHCLG) launched a funding programme known as the Rough Sleeping 
Initiative (RSI) in 2018 to support local areas to provide vital services for those living on the 
streets. Through this programme, local authorities had been required to apply for funding on 

Page 4



Cabinet 
23 June 2021 

 

 
 

an annual basis, with a commitment to reduce rough sleeping in their local area.  
 
The Council had received funding from the RSI programme on an annual basis since 2019. 
There had been a marked reduction in rough sleeping across the borough and some notable 
success in bringing ‘Everyone In’ during the Covid 19 pandemic.  Services were currently 
funded to 30 June 2021, with delivery of outreach services led by a voluntary sector partner.  
 
Further funding had been secured by the Council to deliver rough sleeping services for the 
period 1 July 2021 to 30 March 2022.  In consideration of the timing of the funding, staff 
capacity and parameters of the Council’s contract procedure rules, it was proposed that 
outreach and resettlement services were delivered through a Council-led delivery model 
from 1 July 2021. 
 
Maintaining existing arrangements would mean the Council would not be compliant with its 
contract procedure rules.  However, if the Council carried out a full tender process, the 
timescales involved would lead to a gap in service delivery.  The service provided much-
needed support for vulnerable individuals in the borough and it was crucial to provide 
continuity of service.  
 
Therefore, it was recommended that the proposed in-house delivery of MHCLG funded 
Rough Sleeping Services be approved from 1 July 2021, as set out in section 7 of the 
report.  This would ensure continued delivery of services for vulnerable people and a 
continued focus on reducing and preventing rough sleeping across the borough and at the 
same time ensuring continued compliance with the Council’s contract procedure rules. 
 
In response to questions, the Portfolio Holder explained that the Council’s contract with the 
current service provider, P3, had been extended once already and could not be extended a 
second time; the Council would, instead, have to carry out a full tender process, which 
would result in a gap in service.  Providing the service in-house avoided the need for a 
tender process.  The Council’s core grant funding arrangement with Centre Point Outreach 
was a separate matter.  
 
Members stressed the need for continuity of this crucial service and commended the 
success it had achieved.   
 

 

 

OTHER OPTIONS OR ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED  

 
1. Maintain existing arrangements: this option is not recommended as it would not enable 

the Council to be compliant with its contract procedure rules. 

2. Carry out a full tender process: this option is not recommended as the timescales 

involved would lead to a gap in service delivery – this would be a risk.  

3. Not deliver rough sleeping services in Boston Borough: this option is not recommended 

as it would negatively impact on much needed support for vulnerable individuals in the 

Borough and would lead to an increase in rough sleeping in the Borough. Funding has 

been secured to deliver rough sleeping services across the Borough. 

 

Page 5



 

RECORD OF ANY CONFLICT OF INTEREST  

 

None. 

 

 

RECORD OF ANY DISPENSATION GRANTED  

 

None.  

 
9   EMPOWERING HEALTHY COMMUNITIES - COUNCILLOR GRANTS 

SCHEME 
 

  

 

DECISION 

 

1. That the proposed Councillor Grants Scheme, to be delivered 
as part of the Empowering Healthy Communities Programme, 
be approved.  
 

2. That authority be delegated to the Assistant Director, Housing 
and Wellbeing (in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for 
Housing & Communities) to arrange for implementation and 
delivery of the scheme from 1st July 2021. 

 

3. That a progress report be provided to Cabinet in six months’ 
time (December 2021) to show impact and outcomes achieved 
through the grants scheme. 

 

Portfolio 

Holders and 

Officer 

 

MG/MH 

 

 

REASON FOR DECISION  

 
The Portfolio Holder for Housing presented a report regarding the delivery of a Councillor 
Grants Scheme, as part of the Empowering Healthy Communities (Community Champions) 
Programme, funded by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
(MHCLG).  
 
Funding of £1000 would be available to each Ward Member and £1000 would be available 
to each Parish Council.  The scheme would be open to receive applications from eligible 
groups between 1 July 2021 and 31 January 2022. 
 
The scheme provided a positive opportunity for Councillors to invest in and support their 
local communities and aligned with the Corporate Strategy with respect to Priority 1: People 
and Priority 2: Future Prosperity, Regeneration and Inclusive Growth. 
 
The funding allocation could be spent to support local community groups upon application, 
provided spend was in line with the Community Champions Fund grant conditions.  

Page 6



Cabinet 
23 June 2021 

 

 
 

The grant conditions formed the criteria within the proposed Councillor Grants Scheme 
policy.   A Councillor Grants Scheme and associated policy, guidance and application 
documents had been developed.  The policy and scheme guidance clearly set out the 
criteria and process for applicants and Members. Guidance and support would be provided 
by the Empowering Healthy Communities Programme Coordinator to Members to help 
validate applications and ensure that funded projects were within the parameters of the 
grant conditions. The policy, information guide and associated documents appeared within 
the Appendices with the report. 
 
Should the scheme be approved, it would be launched on 1 July and would be open for 
applications until 31 January 2022.   A communications plan would be developed and the 
scheme would be launched to raise awareness.  In addition, Members and Parish Councils 
would be invited to attend a briefing ahead of the scheme launch. 
 
The Portfolio Holder commended the hard work of officers in successfully securing the 

funding within short timescales and welcomed the onus placed on Members by the scheme.   

 
It was noted that, although informal groups were ineligible to apply for funding from the 
scheme, an eligible group could act as an accountable body for an informal group wishing to 
undertake projects with community benefit.  Crucially, grants would be paid just two weeks 
after approval.  Members would liaise with groups in order to ensure scheme deadlines were 
met.   
 
Members commended the scheme, which would empower communities, support hard-

working volunteers and enhance Ward Members’ engagement within their communities.   

 
The Portfolio Holder agreed that Members should promote the scheme.  It would also be 

publicised through the usual media channels.  A Member asked that Parish Councils be 

reminded about the scheme and its criteria and timescales on a regular basis due to their 

infrequent meetings. 

 

The Chief Executive described the scheme as an excellent opportunity for Members to 

become involved with the community groups in their ward and pointed out that many 

voluntary groups were active in raising funding themselves and that match funding would 

maximise the benefits of the scheme.  The Portfolio Holder added that it was not a 

requirement for groups to have match funding, though Members could request it. 

 

 

 

OTHER OPTIONS OR ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED  

 
Not to deliver a Councillor Grants Scheme: this option is not recommended. Funding has 
been received to enable delivery of the scheme, which presents a positive opportunity for 
Councillors to invest in and support local groups in their communities. 
 

 

Page 7



 

RECORD OF ANY CONFLICT OF INTEREST  

 

None. 

 

 

RECORD OF ANY DISPENSATION GRANTED  

 

None.  

 
10   TRANSFER OF INTERNAL AUDIT SERVICE 

 

 

DECISION 

 

That the transfer of the internal audit function from Lincoln City 

Council to Lincolnshire County Council be approved. 

Portfolio Holders 

and Officer 

 

JN/AS 

 

 

 

REASON FOR DECISION  

 
The Portfolio Holder for Finance presented a report, which sought approval of the transfer of 
the Council’s internal audit function, currently undertaken through Lincoln City Council, to 
Lincolnshire County Council (LCC) in order to achieve a greater level of resilience and 
consistency in approach across the Strategic Alliance and ensure ongoing conformity with 
the professional standards. 
 

The requirement for an internal audit service was set within the Accounts and Audit 
Regulations 2015.  The Service was currently provided through a contractual arrangement 
for around 140 days of cover with Lincoln City Council. However, there were concerns 
around resilience and, now that there was a shared working arrangement with East Lindsey 
District Council, through both the Alliance and a shared back office provider, there was a 
real benefit in aligning the internal audit function. 
 
Transferring this service to Lincolnshire County Council would achieve a consistent and 
streamlined approach across the Alliance.  Whilst there were no specific issues highlighted 
with the current service provision, there was an increasing need for specialist audit capacity 
specifically around areas such as fraud and ICT, and with a relatively small team, it was 
difficult to develop the required range of expertise.   
 

More generally, a shared approach would allow the following benefits to be secured: 

 Streamlined service with single set of personnel for both Councils within the Alliance and 
PSPS 

 Combining all oversight work for both Councils into one principal officer thereby merging 
liaison meetings, management team and committee attendance and reports 

 Combined audit reviews providing assurance across the Alliance potentially reducing the 

Page 8



Cabinet 
23 June 2021 

 

 
 

number of days on each audit as there would be one audit report and closure process 
rather than two 

 Allow shared intelligence and highlight inconsistent practices 

 A reduced day rate allowing annual savings of around £3,000 

 Reduced impact on PSPS as not having two sets of auditors reviewing the same 
systems 

 Access to other expertise from the Assurance Lincs offer (Risk, Fraud, Health and Safety 
and Audit specialisms) 

 Increased resilience provided by a larger team to mitigate against sickness, loss of key 
staff etc. 

The provisional date for the transfer of the internal audit service, subject to necessary 
approvals and agreed contractual terms, was 1 July 2021. Whilst it was not currently 
proposed to make any changes to the level of audit days, this would be reviewed during the 
year as the risk environment changed and efficiencies could be achieved. 
 

The Leader commended the move and LCC’s internal audit function for its reputation for 

thoroughness. 

 

 

 

OTHER OPTIONS OR ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED  

 
The current service provided by the County Council for East Lindsey District Council could 
transfer to Lincoln City Council.  However, there is not the same level of capacity at the City 
Council to provide the additional resilience. 

 
The service could be provided by private sector organisations. There is, though, a lower 
level of expertise for Local Authority functions in the private sector and previous soft market 
testing has shown that the cost would be significantly higher. 
 

 

 

RECORD OF ANY CONFLICT OF INTEREST  

 

None. 

 

 

RECORD OF ANY DISPENSATION GRANTED  

 

None.  

 

Page 9



 
11   APPOINTMENTS TO EXTERNAL ORGANISATIONS 2021/22 

 

 

DECISION 

 

That the following appointments to the external organisations be 

confirmed, such appointments to hold good only whilst the 

appointees remain Members of the Borough Council, until the 

next Annual Meeting of the Council, or until the appointment of 

their successors: 

Local Community Framework Investment Panel (Empower  
Community Foundation/Lincolnshire housing Partnership) –  
Councillor Paul Skinner 
 
PATROL (Parking and Traffic Regulations outside London) –  
Councillor Jonathan Noble 
 
Tritton Knoll Local Liaison Committee –  
Councillor Michael Cooper 
 

Portfolio 

Holders and 

Officer 

 

LB 

 

REASON FOR DECISION  

 
Under the Constitution, those appointments to outside bodies connected with functions that were 
the responsibility of the executive (Cabinet) were to be determined by Cabinet rather than full 
Council.  
 
The Leader presented a report, which sought approval for to make appointments to the external 
organisations as indicated in Appendix A as follows: 
 

Organisation Period of 
Appointment 

Previous 
Appointees 

Nominees 

Local Community Framework 
Investment Panel (Empower 
Community Foundation/Lincolnshire 
housing Partnership) 
 

Civic Year P. Skinner P. Skinner 

PATROL (Parking and Traffic 
Regulations outside London) 
 

Civic Year - Noble 

Tritton Knoll Local Liaison Committee 
 

Civic Year Cooper Cooper 

 

 

 

OTHER OPTIONS OR ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED  

 
Not to make appointments to the external organisations appended to this report. 
 

Page 10



Cabinet 
23 June 2021 

 

 
 

 

 

RECORD OF ANY CONFLICT OF INTEREST  

 

None. 

 

 

RECORD OF ANY DISPENSATION GRANTED  

 

None.  

 
12   QUARTER 4 REPORT – PERFORMANCE, RISK AND FINANCE 

 
 
 

 

DECISION 

 

1. To note the quarterly monitoring information for Q4. 

 

2. To agree the draft revenue position for the year ended 31 

March 2021, indicating a £704,000 underspend, with the 

recommendation that this is carried forward into 2021-22 in a 

‘COVID Pressure Smoothing Reserve.’ 

 

Portfolio Holders 

and Officer 

 

PS/JN 

AS 

 

 

REASON FOR DECISION  

 
The Portfolio Holder for Finance presented a report, which set out quarterly monitoring 
information relating to performance, risk and finance for Quarter 4, being the period from 1 

January to 31 March 2021. 
 
Performance 
 
Areas of success / improvement were noted as: 

 Planning applications and appeals (Cllr Welton) 

 Switchboard – abandoned calls (Cllr Welton) 

 Benefit and Council Tax Support processing times (Cllr Noble) 

 Information requests (Cllr Noble) 

 Broadly compliant food businesses (Cllr Stevens) 

 Fly tip response times (Cllr Evans) 

 Number of affordable homes delivered (Cllr Griggs) 

 Number of non-local authority owned empty properties returned into occupation (Cllr 
Griggs) 

 Improved housing standards (Cllr Griggs) 

Page 11



 
Areas of concern / watching brief were: 

 Switchboard waiting time (Cllr Welton) - increase in calls due to Garden Waste and Twin 
bin roll out 

 Business Rates and Council tax collection rates (Cllr Noble) 

 Car parking income (Cllr Noble) 

 Residual household waste per household (Cllr Evans) 

 Market income (Cllr Abbott) 
 
Other items of note:  

 Narrative update on climate change work 

 One non-RIPA authorisation in Q4, relating to fly tipping 

 
The Portfolio Holder for Finance referred to the collection rates for Council Tax and 
Business Rates, which, although below target, were still reasonable given the circumstances 
of the financial impact of the pandemic on residents and businesses.   
 
Another Member commended staff for the collection rates and response times relating to 
incidents of fly tipping and referred to the efforts of Members and officers in dealing with fly 
tipping.  Members of the public were urged to report any incidents they became aware of.  
Also highlighted was the significant loss of car parking income and need for the Council to 
reinstate charges to avoid having to make cuts to other services.   
 

Risk 
 
The Portfolio Holder for Finance reported that the strategic risks had been reviewed in light 
of the change in management structure in Quarter 2 and would be reviewed in light of the 
new Corporate Plan in 2021/22. 
 
The two high strategic risks in Quarter 4 remained as housing and budget. There had been 
no change to the strategic risk scores in Quarter 4.  Full details of risk information were set 
out in Appendix B. 
 

Finance  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Finance reported as follows.   
 
It was welcome news that the draft position for the year ended 31 March 2021 indicated a 
£704,000 underspend, with the recommendation to carry this forward into 2021-22 in a 
‘COVID Pressure Smoothing Reserve’. 
 
The Government had been generous, providing several Covid-19 tranche grants, with more 
to come, as well as compensation for lost fees and charges.  The Council had also received 
significant amounts to give financial aid to businesses.   
 
The Council’s financial position was healthy and the borough would recover well provided 
there were no further lockdowns.   
 

 

Page 12



Cabinet 
23 June 2021 

 

 
 

 

OTHER OPTIONS OR ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED  

 
Alternative reporting arrangements. 
 
 

 

 

RECORD OF ANY CONFLICT OF INTEREST  

 

None. 

 

 

RECORD OF ANY DISPENSATION GRANTED  

 

None.  

 
 
 
13   EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS 

 
 

IT WAS RESOLVED that under Section 100 (A) (iv) of the Local Government Act 
1972, as amended by the Local Government (Access to Information)(Variation) 
Order 2006, the public and press be excluded from the meeting for the following 
items of business on the grounds that it involved the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Order. 

 
14   QUARTER 4 REPORT - EXEMPT APPENDIX 

 
 

A confidential minute of this item has been lodged with the Council. 
 
 
 

The Meeting ended at 7.30 pm 
 
 

 

Signed by the Chief Executive 

 
FRIDAY, 25 JUNE 2021 

 

Page 13



 
 
 

 
These decisions will come into force (and may then be implemented) on the expiry of 
five clear working days after the date of this notice UNLESS the decisions are 
subjected to the Call-In procedure or are starred minutes requiring Full Council 
approval.  
 

 

Page 14



 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

REPORT TO: CABINET 

DATE: 8TH SEPTEMBER 2021 

SUBJECT: POLICY  AND PROCEDURES ON THE REGULATION OF 

INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACT 2000 (RIPA) 

KEY DECISION: 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER:                    

NO 

COUNCILLOR PAUL SKINNER 

REPORT AUTHOR: 

 

WARD(S) AFFECTED: 

CHRISTIAN ALLEN (ASSISTANT DIRECTOR REGULATION AND RIPA 

CO-ORDINATOR/SRO) 

All 

EXEMPT REPORT? No 

 

SUMMARY 

The purpose of this report is to provide the Cabinet with an opportunity to review and approve 

the Council’s revised Policy and Procedures on the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 

(RIPA), and to be assured that it remains up to date and fit for purpose.  

The Policy has been revised following an audit of the Council’s activities by the Investigatory 

Powers Commissioners Office (IPCO) conducted in March 2021 and brings together joint 

working practices across the Strategic Alliance into one single policy document. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

That the revised Policy and Procedures on the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 

(RIPA), set out at Appendix A, be approved.  

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

The RIPA Policy has undergone a review since the formation of the Strategic Alliance and 

following a joint audit of both Council’s by IPCO in March 2021. The revised joint policy is being 

 

 

Page 15

Agenda Item 3



 

 

submitted to the Cabinet/Executive Board at both Councils for approval as sovereign 

organisations with accountability and responsibility for compliance with RIPA. 

 

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Do nothing and maintain two separate polices. 

 

REPORT 

1.  INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) governs public authorities’ use of 

‘directed covert surveillance’ and of ‘covert human intelligence sources’ (CHIS). 
 
1.2 The legislation was introduced to ensure that an individual’s human rights are protected 

whilst also ensuring that law enforcement and security agencies have the powers they need 
to do their job effectively. 
 

1.3 RIPA requires that when a Council undertakes covert directed surveillance or uses a CHIS, 
these activities must be authorised in advance by an officer who must then seek, as from 
November 2012, the approval by a Magistrate/Justice of the Peace. 
 

1.4 The Home Office’s guidance reaffirms the recommendation that, to attain best practice: 

“…elected members of a local authority should review the authority’s use of the 2000 

Act and set out the policy at least once a year. They should also consider  internal 

reports on use of the 2000 Act on a regular basis to ensure that it is being used 

consistently with the local authority’s policy and that the policy remains fit for 

purpose.” 

 
2.  BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 Councils, in common with all other Local Authorities, have powers granted to them by way 

of RIPA 2000 to carry out covert surveillance by way of direct surveillance and use of covert 
human intelligence source (CHIS). 

 
2.2  To ensure the Council applies its powers lawfully and in accordance with RIPA and relevant 

Home Office guidance, the Policy has been revised to ensure it is up to date and reflects 
best practice across the Alliance. 

 
2.3 The only purpose for which local authorities are able to rely on RIPA is where the 

authorisation is necessary “for the purpose of preventing and detecting crime and disorder”. 
Additionally, authorisation for directed covert surveillance is also subject to a ‘crime 
threshold test’ under which the crime is punishable by a maximum term of at least 6 
months imprisonment. No Covert surveillance can be undertaken without the formal 
authority of a Magistrate. 

 

Page 16



 

 

2.4 This Authority will only ever be required to deal with matters relating to directed 
surveillance and covert human intelligence sources (CHIS). This Authority is not 
authorised to nor will it undertake any other forms of surveillance. Public bodies 
are required to formally establish arrangements and responsibilities for approving 
directed surveillance under RIPA and these arrangements are described in the 
Policy. 

2.5  The Councils Assistant Director Regulation is designated under the Council’s 
Constitution as Senior Responsible Officer (SRO) in relation to RIPA and thereby 
responsible for the integrity of the Councils processes, compliance with legislation and 
engagement with the Commissioners and Inspectors.  

2.6 The Councils Assistant Director Regulation also performs the role of RIPA Co-ordinator, 
maintaining the required ‘central record’ of authorisations and for monitoring, 
reviewing, renewal and cancellation of authorisations. The Senior Responsible Officer 
together with the Chief Executive are responsible for monitoring and checking the 
quality of authorisations granted under RIPA. 

2.7 The Council submits an annual report to the Audit and Governance Committee (or 
equivalent) at each Council. There has been no authorised use of RIPA in the last 12 
months. 

 
3.  SUBJECT INFORMATION AND ISSUES/FACTS AND FIGURES 
 
3.1  A copy of the Council’s Policy and Procedures on the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 

(RIPA) 2000 is attached at Appendix A to this report 
 
 
4. SUPPLEMENTARY FACTS 
 
4.1  None 
 
 
5.  COUNCILLOR COMMENTS –  
 
5.1.  None 
 
 
6. DISCUSSION / CONSIDERATION – ISSUES / CONCLUSION 
 
6.1 Members are asked to note and approve the Council’s Policy and Procedures on the 

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA) 2000; as attached at Appendix A to this 
report. 

 
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
None 
 

  

Page 17



 

 

 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Non-compliance with the legislation associated with covert surveillance leaves the Authority 

open to reputational challenge and formal claims for compensation from individuals or 

corporate bodies should it be found that appropriate guidelines and procedures have not been 

followed. IPCO may also audit our compliance with RIPA and impose penalties where the 

authority is found to be in non-conformance. 

 

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

None 

 

RISK IMPLICATIONS 

There are reputational and legal risk implications if our RIPA policy is out of date and/or out of 

step with our legal obligations under the act or relevant Home Office Guidance. If we conduct 

surveillance which does not comply with the Act, Home Office guidance and/or best practice the 

Council is open to challenge under the Human Rights Act or may face sanctions being imposed 

by the Investigatory Powers Commissioners Office. Any evidence obtained from surveillance 

conducted outside of the RIPA Policy would be inadmissible or liable to fail challenge in any legal 

proceedings.   

 

EQUALITY AND SAFEGUARDING IMPLICATIONS 

None 

 

OTHER IMPLICATIONS  

None 

 

CONSULTATION 

With Leader Portfolio Holder Councillor Paul Skinner 

 

APPENDICES 

APPENDIX A East Lindsey District Council and Boston Borough Council 

Policy and Procedures on the Regulation of Investigatory 

Powers Act (RIPA) 2000 (version 5 – July 2021) 

  

Page 18



 

 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

No background papers as defined in Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 were used 

in the production of this report. 

 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 

A report on this item has not been previously considered by a Council body. 

 

REPORT APPROVAL  

Report author: Alison Sparks 

Signed off by: Christian Allen 

Approved for publication: Councillor Paul Skinner 

 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



  

 APPENDIX A 

 

 

 

 

 

 

East Lindsey District Council and 

Boston Borough Council 

Policy and procedures on the Regulation of Investigatory 

Powers Act 

2000 (RIPA) 

Version 5 – July 2021 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

Page 21



  

Table of Contents:  

 
1. Introduction 

2. Policy Statement 
3. Activity Requiring Authorisations 
4. Applying for Authorisations 

5. Granting of Authorisations 
6. Management Responsibility 

7. Maintenance of Records 
8. Training 
9. Non RIPA authorisation and Form 

10.Member Involvement 
 

     Appendix 1 – Inventory of Surveillance Equipment 
     Appendix 2 – Social Media Guidance 
     Appendix 3 – Authorising Officers  

     Appendix 4 – Authorising a CHIS 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

Page 22



  

 

 
1. Introduction 

 
This Policy sets out the Councils position in relation to the Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA), which established a statutory framework for 

the regulation of covert surveillance by, amongst others, local authorities. The Act 
is designed as a mechanism to provide the correct balance between an individual’s 

right to privacy and proper use of data and surveillance, having due regard to 
human rights as defined in the Human Rights Act 1998. 
 

The procedures and guidance set out in this policy are based on the provisions of 
RIPA; Home Office Codes of Practice and guidance issued by the Investigatory 

Powers Commissioner’s Office. Links to Guidance can be found at the end of this 
Policy.  
 

Officers of the Councils should be aware of the scope and extent of activities 
covered by RIPA.  

 
As a company separate from the Councils (albeit one that is wholly owned by the 
Councils) employees or Agents of Public Sector Partnership Services Ltd (PSPS) 

cannot authorise covert surveillance but can seek such authorisation from either 
Council in adherence to this Policy.  

 
What RIPA does:  
 

 Require prior authorisation and judicial approval of directed covert 
surveillance and use of covert human intelligence source (CHIS) 

 Prohibit the Councils from carrying out intrusive Surveillance 
 Require appropriate consideration and safeguards 

 

What RIPA does not;  
 

 Prejudice existing powers available to the Councils that do not involve RIPA 
conduct e.g. to obtain information from the DVLA or HMLR 

 Authorise the use of Directed Surveillance unless the Crime threshold is met. 
 
 

2. Policy Statement 
 

The Councils are committed to building a fair and safe community for all by 
ensuring the effectiveness of laws designed to protect individuals, businesses, the 
environment and public resources.  

 
The Councils recognise that the vast majority of individuals comply with the law. 

For those that choose not to the Councils have a responsibility to ensure firm but 
fair enforcement action is taken which may include authorised covert surveillance in 
order to gather evidence of illegal activity.  

 
Where any such surveillance is contemplated by officers it must be authorised 

under the Act to ensure it is lawful and does not infringe a person’s human rights.  
 
The Councils will not use covert surveillance unless it is absolutely necessary to 

Page 23



  

achieve the desired aims and only so long as it is proportionate to do so and is 

done in a proportionate manner and with adequate regard to the rights and 
freedoms of those who are not a target of the covert surveillance. 

 
The Councils will when using covert surveillance: 
 

 have due regard to the following legislation:  
 

 Human Rights Act 1998 
 Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 
 Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 

 Data Protection Act 2018 
 UK General Data Protection Regulation 

 
 actively monitor its use 
 have due regard to the Home Office Codes of Practice 

 ensure authorisations are granted by the appropriately trained and 
designated officers 

 ensure staff and (contractors) are properly trained 
 properly investigate any complaints about its use 
 

 
The Councils will not: 

 
 normally use Covert Human Intelligences Sources (CHIS). Any need to employ 

a CHIS must be authorised by the Chief Executive 

 carry out intrusive surveillance within the meaning of RIPA 
 use covert surveillance (regulated by RIPA) unless judicial approval has been 

obtained 
 
  

 
2.1 Purpose 

 
This Policy sets out the practice to be followed before any covert surveillance is 

undertaken when carrying out investigations and it will assist officers in 
understanding:  
 

 when surveillance is regulated by RIPA 
 when authorisation criteria are met  

 RIPA procedures 
 implications of the Codes of Practice 
 non-RIPA surveillance 

 how to complete forms 
 

 
2.2 Procedure 

 

All covert surveillance shall be set out in accordance with the procedures in this 
Policy.  

 
The following documents must be maintained:  
 

Page 24



  

 Copies of applications and authorisations and any supporting documents and 

the approval of the Authorising Officer (AO)  
 Copy of any authorisation made by the judiciary 

 A record of the period of surveillance 
 The frequency of reviews by the AO and a record of that review 
 A copy of any renewal of any authorisation (by AO or Judiciary)  

 Date, time and details of any instructions given by the AO 
 

Approved Forms:  
 
Once the type of surveillance has been decided then the appropriate form can be 

completed and sent to the Authorising Officer for approval. Forms can be 
downloaded here along with appropriate guidance for each application:  

 
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/ripa-forms--2 
 

 
Central Register: 

 
A central register must be kept by the RIPA coordinator detailing:  
 

 Date and type of any authorisation 
 Date any order made by a Justice of the Peace 

 Name and grade of AO 
 Unique ref number of the investigation 
 Brief description and names of subjects of investigation 

 Whether any urgency provisions were used and why 
 Exactly what is authorised 

 Details of any renewal 
 Whether confidential information is likely to be obtained 
 Confidential information (if any) 

 Date of cancellation 
 Self-authorisation 

 Reviews 
 Original copies of any documents 

 
 
Records Retention:  

 
All documents should be marked as confidential and the RIPA coordinator is 

responsible for their retention, security and destruction. In accordance with the 
Council’s data Protection Policies and the RIPA Codes of Practice. The retention 
period is five years from the ending of the period authorised.  

 
2.4 Training and review 

 
All Council officers undertaking covert surveillance shall be appropriately trained to 
ensure they understand their legal obligations. Authorising Officers shall attend 

appropriate training for that role at least every three years  
 

 
This Policy will be reviewed every three years by the Senior Responsible Officer 
(SRO) who will make an annual report to the Audit and Governance Committee at 

Page 25

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/ripa-forms--2


  

each Council, on any amendments to the Policy and any surveillance carried out 

within the previous year.  
 

                          
 
3.0 Activity Requiring Authorisation 

 
3.1 The following types of activity will require authorization: 

 
 Directed Surveillance 
 The conduct and use of a CHIS (not usually used by Councils)  

 
3.2 Directed surveillance is any activity undertaken covertly for the purpose of a 

specified investigation, in such a way that it is likely to obtain information about a 
person’s private life 
 

3.3 A covert human intelligence source (CHIS) is an inside informant or undercover 
officer (including someone who develops or maintains a relationship with the 

target) having a covert purpose of obtaining or accessing information for the 
investigator.  
 

 
4.0 Applying for Authorisations 

 
4.1 Only Authorising Officers (AO’s) can enable an application under the Act. These 
persons are listed in appendix 3.  

 
4.2 AO’s may authorise for any service within the Councils and PSPS Limited (the 

Councils data processor) 
 
4.3 To apply the investigator should select and complete the appropriate 

application form from the link above and send securely to the AO. Guidance and 
documents can be found by following the link. 

 
4.4 All information should be marked as Confidential when sent to the AO.  

 
4.5 The investigator should include all steps taken so far in the investigation and 
any steps to be taken if the authorisation is made so that it is clear what the 

authorisation is for.  
 

 
5.0 Granting of Authorisations by AO 
 

5.1 Section 28 of RIPA states: a person shall not grant an authorization for directed 
surveillance unless he believes that authorisation is:  

 
 

(a) necessary for the purpose of preventing or detecting crime, or of 

preventing disorder involving a crime; and 
 

the authorised surveillance is proportionate to what is sought to be achieved 
by it.  

 

Page 26



  

There is a crime threshold to be reached, i.e. the criminal offence: 

 
 is or would be punishable (whether on summary conviction or on 

indictment) by a maximum term of at least 6 months of 
imprisonment, or 

 it arises from the underage sale of alcohol, tobacco, or nicotine 
inhaling products. 

 

 

5.2 The Authorising Officer, in determining whether the surveillance is 
proportionate, will give particular consideration to any collateral intrusion on, 
or interference with, the privacy of persons other than the subject(s) of the 

surveillance. 

 
Such consideration of proportionality must involve: 

 
• balancing the size and scope of the proposed activity against the 

gravity and extent of the perceived crime or harm; 

 

• explaining how and why the methods to be adopted will cause 

the least possible intrusion on the subject and others; 

 
• considering whether the activity is an appropriate use of the 

legislation and a reasonable way, having considered all reasonable 

alternatives, of obtaining the information sought; 

 
• evidencing, as far as reasonably practicable, what other methods had 

been considered and why they were not implemented, or have been 

implemented unsuccessfully. 

 
The Home Office Code of Practice on Covert Surveillance and Property 

Interference should be considered on the issue of proportionality 
(paragraphs 4.5 and 4.6): 

 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attac
hment_data/file/742041/201800802_CSPI_code.pdf 

 
 

5.3    Authorisations must be given in writing. 

 
It is possible that Authorising Officers may face cross-examination in court 

about the authorisation some time after it is granted, and memories fade. It is 
therefore important that a full written record of what they are being asked to 
authorise, appears on the application form. If in doubt, Authorising Officers 

should ask for more detail. 

 
5.4 Authorising Officers should not be responsible for authorising their own 

activities or that of their own service areas. 
 
5.5 All RIPA authorisations must be approved by a Magistrate before an 

authorisation becomes effective and directed surveillance is undertaken, or 
a CHIS deployed. 

 

Page 27

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/742041/201800802_CSPI_code.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/742041/201800802_CSPI_code.pdf


  

 

5.6   Duration of Authorisations and Reviews 

 
An authorisation in writing ceases to have effect at the end of a period of 3 
months beginning with the day on which it took effect, e.g. an authorisation 

starting 1st January would come to an end on 31st March. 

 

Regular reviews of authorisations should be undertaken. The results of the 
review should be recorded on the appropriate form and a copy filed on the 
central record of authorisations and any paper copies are to be held in the 
CCTV Control Room at Boston Borough Council. If the surveillance provides 

access to confidential information or involves collateral intrusion, more 
frequent reviews will be required. The authorising officer should determine 

at the time of giving the initial authorisation, how often a review should take 
place (and this may also be subsequently reviewed). 

 

 

 
5.7 Renewals 

 
5.7.1 While an authorisation is still in force, the Authorising Officer can renew it if 

he considers this necessary for the purpose for which the authorisation was 

originally given. The authorisation will be renewed in writing for a further 
period, beginning with the day when the authorisation would have expired, 

but for the renewal, and can be for a period up to 3 months. 

 
5.7.2 Applications requesting renewal of an authorisation are to be made on the 

appropriate form as set out at the appropriate form and submitted to the 
Authorising Officer. 

 

The renewal must be granted before the original authorisation ceases to have 
effect. 

 

5.7.3 Applications for renewal will record whether it is the first renewal; and if not, 
every occasion on which the authorisation has previously been renewed. 

Applications must also detail: 

 
 the significant changes to the information in the initial authorisation 

 
 the reasons why it is necessary to continue with the surveillance 

 
 the content and value to the investigation or operation, of the information 

so far obtained by the surveillance 

 

 The results of regular reviews of the investigation or operation. 

 
5.7.4 When a directed surveillance authorisation requires renewal, the renewal 

must be approved by a magistrates’ court in the same manner as an initial 
authorisation. 

 

 

Page 28



  

5.8 Cancellations 

 
The person who granted or last renewed the authorisation (or other person 

with Authority under this policy) MUST cancel it if he is satisfied that the 
directed surveillance no longer meets the criteria for authorisation. 

 
Requests for cancellation will be made on the appropriate form and submitted 
to the Authorising Officer for authorisation of the cancellation. All directed 
surveillance cancellations must include directions for the management and 

storage of any surveillance product. 
 

 
 

6    Management Responsibility 

 
The day to day contact between the Council and the source is to be 
conducted by the handler, who will usually be an officer below the rank of 

the Authorising Officer. 

 

No vulnerable person or young person under the age of 18 should be used as a 
source. 

 
 Security and Welfare 

 
Account must be taken of the security and welfare of the source. The 
Authorising Officer, prior to granting authorisation, should ensure that an 

assessment is carried out to determine the risk to the source of any task and 
the likely consequences should the target know the role of the CHIS. 

 
Confidential Material 

 
Where the likely consequence of the directed surveillance or conduct of a 
source would be for any person to acquire knowledge of confidential 

material, the deployment of a source should be subject to special 
authorisation. In these cases, the proposed course of conduct must be 

referred to the Head of Paid Service or (in his absence) a Director for a 
decision as to whether authorisation may be granted. 

 

Monitoring of personal information online 

 

The study of an individual’s on-line presence may engage privacy 
considerations requiring RIPA authorisation. The attached Annex 2 gives 

guidance on the monitoring of information online, such as social media. 
 
 

 
7. MAINTENANCE OF RECORDS 

 
7.1 Each Service shall keep in a dedicated place 

 
(a) a record of all authorisations sought 

(b) a record of authorisations granted and refused 

Page 29



  

(c) applications for the granting, renewal and cancellation of authorisations 

 

7.2 The records will be confidential and will be retained for a period of 3 years 
from the ending of the authorisation. 

 
7.3 Each Authorising Officer shall send original copies of all 

applications/authorisations, reviews, renewals and cancellations to the RIPA 
Co-coordinating Officer, who will maintain a central record of all 

authorisations. The report will include details of the level of compliance with 
the requirements for authorisation. 

 

7.4 Authorising Officers will ensure compliance with the appropriate data 
protection requirements and any relevant codes of practice produced by 

individual authorities in the handling and storage of material. 
 
7.5 Where material is obtained by surveillance which is: 

 
(a) wholly unrelated to a criminal or other investigation, or 

(b) to the person subject of the surveillance, and  

(c) there is no reason to believe it will be relevant to future civil or criminal 
proceedings it should be destroyed immediately. The decision to retain 

or destroy material will be taken by the relevant Authorising Officer. 
 
8.0    Training and awareness of the contents of the Act  

 
It shall be the responsibility of each Service Manager, or an Authorised 
Officer for that service, to ensure that all staff involved or likely to be 

involved in investigations, are adequately trained so as to be aware of the 
requirements and implications of the Act. 

 
It shall be the responsibility of the Senior Responsible Officer with the 
assistance of the RIPA Co-coordinating Officer to ensure that all relevant 

officers have received appropriate training and are aware of the 
requirements and implications of the Act. 

 

 

9. Non-RIPA Surveillance 

 

From time to time a local authority may wish to undertake covert 

surveillance, which is not regulated by RIPA. This is fine as RIPA is permissive 

legislation. 

 

Where the matter being investigated falls outside of RIPA the procedure in 

this part of the Policy can be followed. It is important to remember that the 

Council’s actions could be challenged both by claiming that the evidence 

obtained through non-RIPA surveillance is inadmissible or that the Council 

has infringed a person’s civil liberties. This could lead to action being taken 

against the Council in the civil courts. A person might also complain to the 

Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman about the Council’s actions. 

It is therefore very important that non-RIPA surveillance is only considered in 

appropriate cases and the appropriate non–RIPA authorisation is sought.  

Page 30



  

 
Authorisation under RIPA affords a public authority a defence under Section 
27 i.e. the activity is lawful for all purposes. However, failure to obtain an 
authorisation does not make covert surveillance unlawful. S.80 states: 

 
“Nothing in any of the provisions of this Act by virtue of which conduct of 

any description is or may be authorised by any warrant, authorisation or 
notice, or by virtue of which information may be obtained in any manner, 

shall be construed – 
 

(a) as making it unlawful to engage in any conduct of that 
description which is not otherwise unlawful under this Act and 
would not be unlawful apart from this Act; 

(b) as otherwise requiring— 
► the issue, grant or giving of such a warrant, authorisation or 

notice, or 

► the taking of any step for or towards obtaining the authority 

of such a warrant, authorisation or notice, before any such 

conduct of that description is engaged in; or 

(c) as prejudicing any power to obtain information by any means 

not involving conduct that may be authorised under this Act.” 

 

This point was explained more fully by the Investigatory Powers Tribunal in the 

case of C v The Police (Case No: IPT/03/32/H 14th November 2006 ): 

 

“Although RIPA provides a framework for obtaining internal authorisations 
of directed surveillance (and other forms of surveillance), there is no 

general prohibition in RIPA against conducting directed surveillance 
without RIPA authorisation. RIPA does not require prior authorisation to 

be obtained by a public authority in order to carry out surveillance. Lack 
of authorisation under RIPA does not necessarily mean that the carrying 
out of directed surveillance is unlawful.” 

 
A local authority may wish to conduct  “Non-RIPA Surveillance” for one of two reasons: 

 Crimes Not Carrying Six Months Imprisonment and Employee 
Surveillance  

 

Since 1st November 2012, local authority Authorising Officers may not authorise 
Directed Surveillance unless it is for the purpose of preventing or detecting a 

criminal offence and it meets the condition set out in New Article 7A(3)(a) or (b) 

of the 2010 Order. Those conditions are that the criminal offence which is sought 

to be prevented or detected is punishable, whether on summary conviction or on 

indictment, by a maximum term of at least 6 months of imprisonment, or 

would constitute an offence under sections 146, 147 or 147A of the Licensing Act 

2003 or section 7 of the Children and Young Persons Act 1933 (offences involving 

sale of tobacco and alcohol to underage children). 

 
Covert surveillance that does not meet the six month Crime test. 

 
 

This point is made by the Chief Surveillance Commissioner in his annual report 

Page 31



  

(2010/2011): 

 

“The higher threshold in the proposed legislation will reduce the number of 

cases in which local authorities have the protection of RIPA when conducting 

covert surveillance; it will not prevent the use of those tactics in cases where 

the threshold is not reached but where it may be necessary and proportionate 

to obtain evidence covertly and there will be no RIPA audit trail. Part I of RIPA 

makes unauthorised interception unlawful. In contrast, Part II makes 

authorised surveillance lawful but does not make unauthorised surveillance 

unlawful.” 

 

 
 Employee Surveillance 

 

Most employee surveillance will not be authorisable under RIPA, if a 

previous decision by the Investigatory Powers Tribunal is to be followed. 

 

In C v The Police and the Secretary of State for the Home Department (14th 

November 2006, No: IPT/03/32/H), C, a former police sergeant, retired in 

2001 having made a claim for a back injury he sustained after tripping on a 
carpet in a police station. He was awarded damages and an enhanced pension 

due to the injuries. 

 
In 2002, the police instructed a firm of private detectives to observe C to see 

if he was doing anything that was inconsistent with his claimed injuries. Video 

footage showed him mowing the lawn. C sued the police claiming they had 

carried out directed surveillance without an authorisation. The Tribunal first 

had to decide if it had jurisdiction to hear the claim. The case turned on the 

interpretation of the first limb of the definition of directed surveillance i.e. was 

the surveillance “for the purposes of a specific investigation or a specific 

operation?” 

 

 

The Tribunal ruled that this was not the type of surveillance that RIPA was meant 
to regulate. It made the distinction between the ordinary functions and the core 

functions of a public authority: 

 
“The specific core functions and the regulatory powers which go with them 

are identifiable as distinct from the ordinary functions of public authorities 

shared by all authorities, such as the employment of staff and the making 

of contracts. There is no real reason why the performance of the ordinary 

functions of a public authority should fall within the RIPA regime, which is 

concerned with the regulation of certain investigatory powers, not with the 

regulation of employees or of suppliers and service providers.” 

 

The Tribunal also stated that it would not be right to apply RIPA to such 

surveillance for a number of reasons: 

 

i. RIPA does not cover all public authorities, and there was no sense in 
police employee surveillance being conducted on a different legal footing 
than, for example, the Treasury, which does not have the same 
surveillance rights under RIPA. 

Page 32



  

 
 

ii. The Tribunal has very restrictive rules about evidence, openness and rights 
of appeal. The effect of these would lead to unfairness for employees of 
RIPA authorities when challenging their employers’ surveillance as 
compared to those who were employed by non RIPA authorities. 

 
This case suggests that, even where employee surveillance is being carried out 
on one of the grounds in section 28(3), the question has to be; is it for a core 

function linked to one of the authority’s regulatory functions? In the local authority 
context this would include, amongst others, trading standards, environmental 

health and licensing. If it is not being done for one of these purposes it will not be 
directed surveillance. 

 Human Rights Compliance 

 

Covert surveillance done without a RIPA authorisation will not have the protection 
of RIPA (i.e. the defence in section 27). However it will still be able to be 

undertaken as long as it is done in accordance with the European Convention on 
Human Rights (ECHR) which is directly enforceable against public authorities 

pursuant to the Human Rights Act 2018. Article 8 of the ECHR states: 

 

“Everyone has the right to respect for his private and family life his home 

and his correspondence. 

 
There shall be no interference by a public authority with the exercise of 

this right except such as in accordance with the law and is necessary in a 
democratic society in the interests of public safety, for the protection of 

public order, health or morals, or for the rights and freedoms of others.” 

 
To satisfy Article 8, the covert surveillance must be both necessary and 

proportionate. In deciding whether it is, the same factors need to be considered 
as when authorising surveillance regulated by RIPA. 
 

Page 33



  

 Non-RIPA Data Protection Compliance 

 

When carrying out covert surveillance of employees not regulated by RIPA, the 
Data Protection Act 2018 (DPA) will apply as personal information about living 
individuals will be being processed e.g. their movements, photographs etc. 

 
The Information Commissioner has published a Data Protection Employment 
Practices Code of Practice (available at www.ico.gov.uk). Part 3 of this code 

covers all types of employee surveillance from video monitoring and vehicle 
tracking to email and internet surveillance. It gives guidance on how to do 
employee surveillance in a way which complies with the DPA. Whilst the code is 

not law, it can be taken into account by the Information Commissioner and the 
courts in deciding whether the DPA has been complied with. 

 
The code states that employee monitoring should take place for a clear 
justified purpose and employees should be aware that it is taking place. 
With regard to covert surveillance it states that it will be rare for such 

monitoring to be justified. It should therefore only be used in exceptional 
circumstances e.g. prevention or detection of crime or serious malpractice. 

One of the other main recommendations of the code is that senior 
management should normally authorise any covert monitoring of 
employees. They should satisfy themselves that there are grounds for 

suspecting criminal activity or equivalent malpractice. They should carry 
out an impact assessment and consider whether the surveillance is 

necessary and proportionate to what is sought to be achieved. 
 

The code sets out other rules that local authorities (and others) need to 

consider when carrying out covert surveillance of employees: 

 

 Prior to the investigation, clear rules must be set up limiting the disclosure 
and access to information obtained. 

 The number of people involved in a covert monitoring exercise should 
be limited. 

 The surveillance must be strictly targeted at obtaining evidence within a 
set time frame and it should not continue after the investigation is 
complete. 

 If using audio or video equipment, this should not normally be used in 
places such as toilets or private offices. 

 Information obtained through covert monitoring should only be used for 
the prevention or detection of criminal activity or serious malpractice. 

 Other information collected in the course of monitoring should be 
disregarded and, where feasible, deleted unless it reveals information that 
no employer could reasonably be expected to ignore. 

 
 

In the above cases it is important to have a proper audit trail through 
written records. Therefore in order to demonstrate compliance the same 

forms for a RIPA authorisation need to be completed for a non-RIPA 
authorisation. The difference is that is does not need Judicial approval (no 

need to go to the Magistrate’s Court) 

Page 34



  

        NON-RIPA Authorisation Form 

 

Application for Authorisation to conduct Covert Surveillance not 

regulated by RIPA 

 
Sample Form with Notes to Assist Completion 

 

This form should be completed by an officer of the local authority seeking 

authorisation to carry out surveillance which does not fall within the 

definition of Directed Surveillance in section 28 of the Regulation of 

Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA). This could include surveillance 

where the target is doing something which is not a criminal  offence (or 

which does not carry a term of imprisonment of six months or more), 

misusing the work e-mail/internet system or breaching a legal agreement 

(e.g. tenancy agreement). 

 
Before completing this form please consult: 

 

 The ICO Employment Practices Code: Part 3 (Staff Surveillance) 

 The Council’s SRO  

 
Once completed this form should be forwarded to your manager to complete 
box 11 onwards 
 
 
 

 
 

  

Page 35



 
 

      Non-RIPA application for Authorisation Form 

 

Organisati

on 

(including 

full address) 

  

 

Name of 
Applicant 

 Unit/Branch 

/Division 

 

Full Address  

Contact Details 
 

Investigation/Op
erati on Name (if 

applicable) 

 

Investigating Officer (if a person 
other 

 

than the applicant) 
 

DETAILS OF APPLICATION 

1. Give rank or position of the authorising officer 

This is the person who will decide whether or not the surveillance should be authorised 
and will countersign this form. It may be the head of the department carrying out the 

surveillance. If in doubt consult your legal department. 

2. Describe the purpose of the specific operation or investigation. 

Explain what is being investigated. For example: 

 

 Misuse of email/internet 

 An employee “fiddling” his/her timesheet 

 Breach of a tenancy agreement 

 

If possible, include the relevant legislation that which gives you the power/duty to 

investigate the matter and to take action. 

Page 36



 
 

3. Describe in detail the surveillance operation to be authorised and expected 
duration, including any premises, vehicles or equipment (e.g. camera, 

binoculars, and recorder) that may be used. 

The key phrase is “in detail.” Therefore a response which merely states “Video camera 

and recording equipment will be installed at a fixed point” will not be adequate. 

 
Your statement here needs to include what is going to be done, who is going to do it, 

when they are going to do it, where they are going to do it and how they are going to 
do it. Other points to address here include: 

 

 How long will the surveillance last? 

 Specific details about dates and times i.e. is it 24/7, at specific times of the day 
or at random times? 

 Which premises are to be used and/or targeted? 

 Which vehicles are to be used? Are they public or private? 

 What type of equipment is to be used? e.g. covert cameras, audio devices 

 What is the capability of the equipment to be used? e.g. zoom lense, remote 
controlled etc. 

 Who else will be involved in the operation and what will be their role? e.g. 
private detectives, police 

 

It may be appropriate to attach plans/maps showing where and how the surveillance 

will be conducted and indicating where any surveillance equipment will be installed. 

4. The identities, where known, of those to be subject of the directed 

surveillance. 

 Name: 

 Address: 

 DOB: 

 Other information as appropriate: 

Include as much information as you have. If you do not know the identity of the 

target(s) then say so. You could include a general description of the target(s). 

5. Explain the information that it is desired to obtain as a result of the 

directed surveillance. 

Your statement here should be more detailed than in Box 2. You should give details 

of the precise information sought by doing the surveillance. For example: 

 

 “To ascertain what time the employee enters and leaves the office.” 

 “To capture images of the employee making unauthorised visits to service users.” 

 “To find out what websites the employee has been visiting and what images have 
been downloaded.” 

Page 37



 
 

6. Has any warning/notice been served on the target? If not, explain 

why this surveillance needs to be covert 

The warning could be general one (e.g. signs/policy) or it could be more specific (e.g. 
letter). 

 

Explain any overt methods you have tried to obtain the evidence/information or why 

they are not appropriate. 

 
Explain the consequences of the target finding out about this surveillance. 

7. Explain why this surveillance is necessary 

Include in this box details of: 

 

 Why surveillance is needed to obtain the information/evidence that is sought 

 Any other means you have tried (not involving surveillance) to obtain the 
same information/evidence 

 Any other evidence/information you have to link the target with the offender 
which requires corroboration through surveillance 

8. Supply details of any potential collateral intrusion and why the intrusion is 

unavoidable. Describe precautions you will take to minimise collateral intrusion 

 

Page 38



 
, SEPTEMBER 2019  

 

(Firstly, identify which third parties will be the subject of collateral intrusion and 

what that intrusion will be i.e. what information will be captured about them? 

 
Secondly, state why this is unavoidable. This could be because of the nature of the 
premises (e.g. a restaurant) or because of what the person is doing (e.g. visiting the 
subject/target premises). In some cases there will always be third parties around who will 

be captured on film or whose activities will be recorded/observed in some way. 

 

Thirdly, set out what steps you have taken to minimise collateral intrusion, if this is 
possible. 

 
If you cannot minimise collateral intrusion you still need to show you have considered it. 

In some situations all you may be able to state is that you cannot do anything to 
minimise collateral intrusion but you will not be making any decisions based upon the 
information gathered about third parties unless it shows them committing a criminal 

offence. Furthermore, you will ensure that officers who do the surveillance or view any 
recordings are mindful of who the real target of the surveillance is.) 

9. Explain why this surveillance is proportionate to what it seeks to achieve. 
How intrusive might it be on the subject of surveillance or on others? And 

why is this intrusion outweighed by the need for surveillance in 
operational terms or can the evidence be obtained by any other means? 

The RIPA Covert Surveillance Code of Practice contains detailed guidance on 
proportionality: 

 
“3.3…This involves balancing the seriousness of the intrusion into the privacy of the 

target of the operation (or any other person who might be affected) against the need for 
the activity in investigative and operational terms.” 

 

“ 3.4 The authorisation will not be proportionate if it is excessive in the overall 

circumstances of the case. Each action authorised should bring an expected benefit to the 

investigation or operation and should not be disproportionate or arbitrary. The fact that a 

suspected offence may be serious will not alone render intrusive actions proportionate. 

Similarly, an offence may be so minor that any deployment of covert techniques would be 

disproportionate. No activity should be considered proportionate if the information which is 

sought could reasonably be obtained by other less intrusive means.” 

 
Here you demonstrate that you have: 

 balanced the size and scope of the proposed activity against the gravity and 
extent of the perceived crime or offence; 

 explained how and why the methods to be adopted will cause the least 
possible intrusion on the target and others; 

 considered whether the activity is an appropriate use of the legislation and a 
reasonable way, having considered all reasonable alternatives, of obtaining the 
necessary result; 

 evidenced, as far as reasonably practicable, what other methods had been 
considered and why they were not implemented. 

 
In order to comply with the above you need to address the following questions: 

• Can you get information using less intrusive means/overt methods? 

Page 39



 
, SEPTEMBER 2019  

• What other means have you tried to obtain the same information/evidence? 

• What have you done to try and lessen the impact on the target? Factors to 

address include: 

 

– Amount of information to be gathered during surveillance 

– The way the surveillance is done e.g. using still cameras rather than 

video to capture less information or using one camera rather than two. 
– Impact of the surveillance on the subject 

– Timing of the surveillance 

 

At the same time, the above must be balanced with the need for the activity in 

operational terms. To demonstrate this balance you should address: 

 

• What you are seeking to achieve? 

• Seriousness and extent of the offence 

• Impact of the offence on the victims, others/wider community and on the public 

purse 

 

For more guidance on proportionality see chapter 3 of the RIPA Covert Surveillance Code 

and the Employment Practices Data Protection Code (Part 3). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 40



 
, SEPTEMBER 2019  

10. Applicant’s Details. 

 

Name (print) 

  

Tel No: 

 

 

Grade/Rank 

  

Date 

 

 

Signature 

  

11. Authorising Officer's Statement. [Spell out the “5 W’s” – Who; What; 

Where; When; Why and HOW– in this and the following box.] 

I hereby authorise directed surveillance defined as follows: [Why is the surveillance 

necessary, Who is the surveillance directed against, Where and When will it take 
place, What surveillance activity/equipment is sanctioned, How is it to be 

achieved?] 

 
This section is for the Authorising Officer to complete. Ensure that you are satisfied 
that any covert monitoring is strictly targeted at obtaining evidence within a set 

timeframe and that it does not continue after the investigation is complete. 

 

Sufficient detail must be included here to demonstrate that you, as the Authorising 
Officer, have considered the application objectively. Reference can be made to the 
boxes completed by the Investigating Officer above but “cut and paste” should be 

avoided. The five “W’s” stated above must be addressed in detail. This is important so 
that the 

Investigating Officers are clear as to what they can and cannot do and the means 

they can adopt. 

 

You should not be afraid to reject the application if it lacks clarity or detail. 

12. Explain why you believe the surveillance is necessary. 

Explain why you believe the surveillance to be proportionate to what is 

sought to be 
achieved by carrying it out. 

You should satisfy yourself that there are grounds for suspecting criminal activity or 
equivalent malpractice and that notifying individuals about the monitoring would 
prejudice its prevention or detection. Set out what matters in the respective boxes 

you have given particular weight to when considering necessity and proportionality. 
You can also add any additional factors you have considered. 

 

 

 

Page 41



 
, SEPTEMBER 2019  

 

 

Date of first review If the surveillance operation is going to last 
more than a month then you should consider 

whether it should be reviewed after a period of 
time. During a review, consideration will have 

to be given to whether the surveillance is still 
necessary and proportionate. 

Programme for subsequent reviews of this authorisation: Only complete 
this box if review dates after the first review are known. If not or 
inappropriate to set additional review dates then leave blank. 

 

Name (Print) 
 

Grade / Rank State the position of the 

Authorising Officer e.g. Head 

of Audit 

Signature  Date and time   

Authorising Officers should not normally be responsible for authorising operations in 
which they are directly involved, although it is recognised that this may sometimes 
be unavoidable, especially in the case of small organisations, or where it is necessary 

to act urgently or for security reasons. 

Expiry date and time 
 

Page 42



 
, SEPTEMBER 2019 

 

 

 
 

 
10.0     Member Involvement 

 
The Cabinet/Executive Board should consider reports on the use of the 

powers under the Act on a regular basis, which shall be at least every 
year, to ensure that it is being used consistently with this policy. 

Cabinet/Executive Board will also consider reports from the IPCO. 

Members of the Council will not however be involved in making 
decisions on specific authorisations. 

Page 43



 
, SEPTEMBER 2019 

 

Appendix 1  

 
Inventory of Surveillance Equipment held by ELDC and BBC 

 
 (There is currently no surveillance equipment owned or used by either Council)  

 

The Equipment should be stored, when not in use, in a locked cabinet under 
the control of the Senior Responsible Officer. 

 
Any Officer of the Council considering using the Equipment for covert 
surveillance in a public place must make a written request to the Senior 
Responsible Officer or the RIPA coordinating Officer, who will consider and 

decide whether the proposed use of the Equipment is appropriate, bearing in 
mind the provisions of RIPA and the associated codes of practice. 

 

Any Officer who uses the Equipment to record digital images may only view such 
images once captured, and shall not download them on to a computer or other 

electronic storage facility unless this is first agreed by the Senior Responsible 
Officer and/or the RIPA coordinating Officer. 

Page 44



 
, SEPTEMBER 2019 

 

Appendix 2 Social Media  

 
 

Guidance on the use of Social Networking Sites for investigations 
 
It is recognised that the use of the internet and, in particular, social networking 

sites, can provide useful information for Council staff carrying out investigations. 
These investigations may relate to the various enforcement roles within the council 

– for example Fraud, Planning Enforcement, Licensing or Environmental Health, 
but will equally apply to some non-enforcement teams, such as Debt Collection or 
Housing.  

 
The use of the internet and social networking sites may fall within the definition of 

covert directed surveillance. This is likely to result in the breaching of an 
individual’s Article 8 rights under the Human Rights Act (the right to privacy). 
 

Social Networking Sites 
 

 
There is a fine line between general observation, systematic observation and 
research and it is not sufficient to rely on a perception of a person’s reasonable 

expectations or their ability to control their personal data.  
 

Guidance for officers in relation to the use of social media for the gathering of 
evidence to assist in its enforcement activities is set out below: 
 

 Officers must not ‘friend’ individuals on social networks as part of 
undertaking their roles 

 Officer must not use their own private social networking accounts to view 
the social networking accounts of other individuals as part of their 
professional role 

 Officers viewing an individual’s profile on a social networking site should do 
so only once in order to obtain evidence to support or refute their 

investigation 
 further viewing of open profiles on social networking sites to gather 

evidence or to monitor an individual’s status, must only take place once 
RIPA authorisation has been granted and approved by a Magistrate 

 Officers should be aware that it may not be possible to verify the accuracy 

of information on social networking sites and, if such information is to be 
used as evidence, steps must be taken to ensure its validity. 

 
The purpose of this guidance note is to provide clarity on the Councils’ position: 
 

 It is not possible to provide a definitive list of social networking sites, so this 
should be taken to mean any site which involves individuals creating a 

profile which contains personal information and is viewable by others, 
whether accepted as ‘friends’ or otherwise.  

 

 This might include sites such as ‘Facebook’ and ‘LinkedIn’ 
 

 As the definition of ‘private information’ under RIPA includes: 
‘any information relating to a person’s private or family life and should be 
taken generally to include any aspect of a person’s private or personal 

Page 45



 
, SEPTEMBER 2019 

 

relationship with others, including family and professional or business 

relationships’ 
 

The Chief Surveillance Officer says: ‘Although there remains a 
significant debate as to how anything made publically available in 
this medium can be considered private, my commissioners remain 

of the view that the repeat viewing of individual ‘open source’ sites 
for the purpose of intelligence gathering and data collation should be 

considered within the context of the protection that RIPA affords to 
such activity. 

 

There is a fine line between general observation, systematic 
observation and research and it is unwise to rely on a perception of 

a person’s reasonable expectations or their ability to control their 
personal data.’ 

 

 Sites used to advertise goods and services should be included within the 
definition. Although there is likely to be a reduced expectation of privacy 

with this type of site, there is still the possibility of obtaining private 
information which may be subsequently used in any enforcement 
proceedings. 

 If an allegation is received or, as part of an investigation into an individual, 
it is necessary to view their social networking site, officers may access the 

main page of the individual’s profile once in order to take an initial view as 
to whether there is any substance to the allegation or matter being 
investigated. 

 The initial viewing must be reasonable – for example, it would not be 
reasonable to spend any significant amount of time searching through 

various pages of the individual’s profile or to print out several pages just in 
case they may reveal something useful. 

 In some cases where, for example, a link to a site is provided by a 

complainant, it may be relevant for the receiving officer to view the link 
before passing it onto the investigating officer to also view. This would count 

as one viewing.  
 However, it would not be reasonable for each officer in a team to view the 

site in turn so that they may each gather some information. 
 Each single viewing of an individual’s social networking site must be 

recorded on the investigation file stating who viewed it, when and why. This 

is to enable scrutiny and reporting to IPCO if necessary as well as to 
evidence on the investigation file that there has been no misuse of RIPA.  

 If it is considered that there is a need to further monitor an individual’s 
social networking site with a view to gathering evidence then authorisation 
must be obtained from an Authorising Officer. 

 If the offence being investigated falls under RIPA, a formal RIPA application 
must be completed, authorised by one of the Councils’ Authorising Officers 

and then approved by a Magistrate. 
 If the offence being investigated falls outside of RIPA (for example if the 

offence does not carry a custodial sentence of at least 6 months 

imprisonment or is not a core function of the council) a non-RIPA form must 
be completed General guidance on RIPA and appropriate forms can be found 

on the Councils’ Intranet and in the main RIPA Policy document 
 
 

 

Page 46



 
, SEPTEMBER 2019 

 

Appendix 3  

 
List of Officers Authorised under this Policy:  

 

NAME  POSITION  CONTACT  

Christian Allen Senior Responsible 

Officer and RIPA 
Coordinator  

 

Duncan Hollingworth Authorising Officer  

Andy Fisher  Authorising Officer  

Peter Hunn Non-RIPA Authorising 

Officer 

 

Matt Fisher Non-RIPA Authorising 

Officer 

 

   

   

Page 47



 

Appendix 4  

 
 

 
 GRANTING OF AUTHORISATION FOR THE USE OF COVERT HUMAN 

INTELLIGENCE SOURCES (CHIS) Not usually used by Councils 

 
The same requirements of necessity and proportionality exist for the granting of 
these authorisations as with directed surveillance. 

 
Additionally, the Authorising Officer shall not grant an authorisation unless he /she 

believes that arrangements exist which satisfy the following requirements: 

 
 there will at all times be an officer with day to day responsibility for 

dealing with the source and the source’s security and welfare 

 
 there will at all times be an officer who will have general oversight of 

the use made of the source 

 
 there will at all times be an officer with responsibility for maintaining a 

record of the information supplied by the source 

 
 records which disclose the identity of the source will not be available to 

persons except to the extent that there is a need for access to them to 
be made available 

 
Similarly, before authorising the use or conduct of the source, the Authorising 

Officer must be satisfied that the conduct/use is proportionate to what the use or 
conduct of the source seeks to achieve, taking into account the likely degree of 

intrusion into the privacy of those potentially effected, and for the privacy of 
persons other than those who are directly the subjects of the operation or 
investigation. 

 
Measures should be taken, wherever practicable, to avoid unnecessary intrusion 
into the lives of those not directly connected with the operation. 

 
 Particular care is required where people would expect a high degree 

of privacy, or where, as a consequence of the authorisation, 

‘confidential material’ is likely to be obtained. 
 

 Consideration is also required to be given to any adverse impact on 

community confidence that may result from the use or conduct of a 
source or information, obtained from that source. 

 
 Additionally, the Authorising Officer should make an assessment of 

any risk to a source, in carrying out the conduct in the proposed 

authorisation. 
 

 Authorisation for the use of a CHIS must be given in writing. 
 
 

Only the Chief Executive (or in his/her absence the person who is formally 
nominated to act as the Chief Executive) may authorise the use of a juvenile or 

vulnerable CHIS. 

Page 48



 

 

Ideally, the Authorising Officers should not be responsible for authorising 
their own activities e.g. those in which they themselves are to act as a 

source, or in tasking a source. However, it is recognised that this will not 
always be possible, especially in the case of small departments. 
Authorisations must be approved by a Magistrate (see paragraph 7.5). 

 
The Solicitor employed by the Council will arrange the appointment before 

the Magistrate(s) and explain the procedure to the Authorising Officer. The 
Solicitor employed by the Council and the Authorising Officer will be 
required to attend before the Magistrate(s) to seek the Magistrate’s 

approval to the authorisation. 

 
An application for authorisation for the use or conduct of a CHIS will be     
made on the appropriate form and must record: 

 
1. Details of the purpose for which the source will be tasked, or deployed. 

 
2. The reasons why the authorisation is necessary in the particular case    
and the grounds on which authorisation is sought (e.g. for the purpose of 
preventing or detecting crime or disorder). 

 
 Where a specific investigation or operation is involved, details 

of that investigation or operation. 

 
 Details of what the source would be tasked to do. 

 
 Details of potential collateral intrusion and why the intrusion is 

justified. 

 
 Details of any confidential material that might be obtained as a 

consequence of the authorisation. 

 
 The reasons why the authorisation is considered proportionate 

to what it seeks to achieve. 

 
 The level of authorisation required. 

 
 A subsequent record of whether authorisation was given or 

refused by whom and the time and date. 

Page 49



 

 

 
         Duration of Authorisation of a CHIS 

 
A written authorisation, unless renewed, will cease to have effect at the end 

of a period of twelve months beginning with the day on which it took effect 
except in the case of a juvenile CHIS which has a duration of one month. 

Oral authorisations will, unless renewed, last 72 hours. 

 

 

 
 Renewal of a CHIS 

 

As with authorisations for directed surveillance, authorisations for the 

conduct and use of CHIS can be renewed, the same criteria applying. 
However before an Authorising Officer renews an authorisation, he must be 
satisfied that a review has been carried out of the use of a CHIS and that 

the results of the review have been considered. 

 
Applications for renewal must be made on the appropriate form and 

submitted to the Authorising Officer. However, an application for renewal 
should not be made until shortly before the authorisation period is coming 

to an end. 
 

An authorisation may be renewed more than once provided it continues to      

meet the criteria for authorisation. 
 

When CHIS authorisation requires renewal, the renewal must be approved 
by a magistrates’ court in the same manner as an initial authorisation 
 

 Review 

 
Regular reviews of authorisations should be undertaken. The results of the 

review should be recorded on the appropriate form and a copy filed on the 
central record of authorisations. 

 
If the surveillance provides access to confidential information, or involves 
collateral intrusion, frequent reviews will be required. The Authorising 
Officer should determine how often a review should take place. 

 
 Before an Authorising Officer renews an authorisation he must 

be satisfied that a review has been carried out of: 

 
 The use made of the source during the period authorised 

 
 The tasks given to the source 

 
 The information obtained from the use or conduct of the source 

 
 If the Authorising Officer is satisfied that the criteria necessary 

for the initial authorisation continue to be met, he may renew 

it in writing as required. 
 

Page 50



 

When CHIS authorisation requires renewal, the renewal must be approved by a 

magistrates’ court in the same manner as an initial authorisation 

 

 
Cancellations 

 
The officer who granted or renewed the authorisation MUST cancel it if he/she is 

satisfied that 

 
 the use or conduct of the source no longer satisfies the criteria 

for authorisation, or 

 
 that the arrangements for the source’s case no longer exist 

 
 Requests for cancellation will be made on the appropriate form 

and submitted to the Authorising Officer for authorisation of 
the cancellation. 

 

All CHIS cancellations must include directions for the management and 
storage of any surveillance product. 

Page 51



 

 

Page 52



 

 

 

 

 
 

REPORT TO: CABINET 

DATE: 8TH SEPTEMBER 2021 

SUBJECT: QUARTER 1 REPORT – PERFORMANCE, PROJECTS, RISK AND 

FINANCE 

KEY DECISION: 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: 

YES 

COUNCILLOR SKINNER – LEADER (PERFORMANCE) 

COUNCILLOR NOBLE – FINANCE & RISK 

REPORT AUTHOR: 

 

WARD(S) AFFECTED: 

SUZANNE ROLFE, TRANSFORMATION MANAGER 

TIM SAMPSON, FINANCE MANAGER 

ALL 

EXEMPT REPORT? NO 

 

SUMMARY 

This is the quarterly report covering performance, projects, risk and finance monitoring 

information for Quarter 1 of 2021/22 (April to June 2021). 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. To note the quarterly monitoring information for Q1 2021/22 

2. To agree the approach to risk management for 2021/22 

3. Any finance recommendations – to follow 

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

Members are accountable for the delivery of the Council’s priorities and this monitoring 

information should be used as a tool to report on progress and highlight any key challenges 

forecast 

 

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Alternative reporting arrangements 

 
Page 53

Agenda Item 4



REPORT 

Background 

1.1 An updated performance management framework has been agreed across the Strategic 
Alliance to support joint delivery of services. 

 
1.2 Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) have been agreed through the service planning process 

to capture performance against Boston Borough Council’s Corporate Strategy and East 
Lindsey District Council’s Strategic Aims. 

 
1.3 A combined performance report has been presented to Corporate Management Team 

(CMT) and this information has then been split out by Council for reporting to Boston’s 
Cabinet and Scrutiny Committees and to East Lindsey’s Exec Board and Overview & 
Scrutiny. 

 
1.4 This report presents the performance information for Boston Borough Council for Quarter 1 

of 2021/22 (April to June 2021). Where new measures have been introduced, the initial 
targets have been set without the benefit of past data. Now that we have Q1 data returns 
we can review and refine targets where appropriate in Q2. 

 
1.5 Alongside the performance information is an update on the progress of key projects across 

the Alliance as at the end of Quarter 1. 
 
Performance (Appendix A) 

2.1 In total there are 20 KPIs for Boston Borough Council. 8 are on or better than target, 7 are 
worse than target, 5 are not available. 

 
2.2 Performance on or better than target in Q1: 

 Percentage of commercial rent received against agreed budget 

 Number of properties improved through Council intervention 

 Percentage of household waste collected for recycling and composting 

 Percentage of fly-tips collected within 3 working days of being reported 

 Percentage of ‘other’ planning applications determined within 8 weeks 

 Time to process Benefit change events 

 Council Tax collection rate 

 NDR collection rate 
 
2.3 Performance worse than target in Q1: 

 Percentage of car parking income received against agreed budget 

 Number of verified rough sleepers (aspirational target of zero) 

 Percentage of Alliance workforce who said 'yes' when asked if they felt valued at work 
(being addressed through Values and Behaviours work) 

 Percentage of ‘major’ planning applications determined within 13/16 weeks (on target 
when extensions are included) 

 Percentage of ‘minor’ planning application determined within 8 weeks (on target when 
extensions are included) 

 Percentage of food premises inspections completed against the Food Standards Agency 
annual inspection plan (impacted by Covid recovery work) 

 Time to process new Benefit claims (impacted by increase in workload) 
 

Page 54



Project updates (Appendix B) 

3.1 An updated project management framework has been agreed across the Strategic Alliance, 
including monthly reporting to CMT and quarterly reporting to Boston’s Cabinet and East 
Lindsey’s Exec Board. The Q1 update report is attached at Appendix B. 

 
Risk management 

4.1 The next area for review is the risk management framework to provide a consistent 
approach across the Councils. East Lindsey District Council have a strategic risk register in 
place. Boston’s strategic risk register needs to be updated to reflect the new Corporate 
Strategy. All operational and project risks need to be reviewed to reflect the changes in 
structure and working practices. Work is underway to bring this together for reporting back 
in Q2. 

 

Finance (Appendix C) – to follow 

 
CONCLUSION 
Overall, performance and projects in Quarter 1 of 2021/22 are in line with targets and remedial 

action is in place where required. 

Strategic and operational risks continue to be managed in accordance with the Risk Management 

Framework with a thorough review underway for reporting in Q2. 

 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
The financial implications are set out in the ‘Finance’ section of the report, with specific 
recommendations highlighted in the recommendations section at the beginning of this covering 
report  
 

 
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Local Government Act 1999 

 

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

None 

 
EQUALITY AND SAFEGUARDING IMPLICATIONS 

None 

 
OTHER IMPLICATIONS  

The performance and risk implications are set out in the relevant sections of the report, with 

specific recommendations highlighted at the beginning of this covering report. 

 
  

Page 55



CONSULTATION 

Consultation with CMT 

 

APPENDICES 

Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 

APPENDIX A Q1 performance 

APPENDIX B Q1 project updates 

APPENDIX C Q1 finance – to follow 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

No background papers as defined in Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 were used 

in the production of this report. 

 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 

A report on this item has not been previously considered by a Council body 

 
REPORT APPROVAL  

Report author: Suzanne Rolfe; suzanne.rolfe@boston.gov.uk  

Signed off by: John Medler 

Approved for publication: Cllr Paul Skinner & Cllr Jonathan Noble 

 

 

Page 56

mailto:suzanne.rolfe@boston.gov.uk


Appendix A: Q1 Performance 2021/22 

Performance Key 

Performance  Trend 

Achieved or 
exceeded target 

Within an Agreed 
Tolerance 

Outside of Agreed 
Tolerances 

Numbers have 
increased 

Improvement in 
trend or service 

No significant change  
Numbers have 

decreased 

Deterioration in 
trend or service 

       

 

Performance Overview  

Boston Borough Council KPIs 

Assets Performance 
Latest 
Value 

Target 

ASB001 Percentage of car parking income received against agreed budget L 63.59% 100.00% 

ASB002 Percentage of commercial rent received against agreed budget J 104.30% 100.00% 

Housing and Wellbeing Performance 
Latest 
Value 

Target 

HWB001 Number of properties improved through Council intervention J 25 20 

HWB002 Percentage of cases opened at homelessness prevention stage (i.e. before they have become homeless)     70.00% 

Commentary: This information is not currently available from Boston’s housing IT system. A new system is in development and will enable us to report in future. 

HWB003 
Percentage of homelessness cases that were opened at homelessness prevention stage that resulted in the customer not 
becoming homeless 

    70.00% 

Commentary: As above – not currently available 

HWB004 Number of verified rough sleepers (quarterly snapshot, verified at street count) L 5 0 

Commentary: Achieving zero is very challenging but this is the Government's aim, so we are trying to achieve this aspirational target. 

HWB005 Number of families with children placed into B&B for more than 6 calendar weeks     0 

Commentary: As above – not currently available 

Organisation and Corporate Support 
Performance 

Latest 
Value 

Target 

OCA001 Percentage of Alliance workforce who said 'yes' when asked if they felt valued at work L 61.58% 84.00% 

Commentary: This is a new measure so previous data is not available for accurate target setting until year end. Work is underway to drive up completion rates of the survey 
and to address the issues raised, including the launch of the Values & Behaviours for the Strategic Alliance on 1st July 2021. This includes a plan of embedding activity currently 
running up to March 2022. 

P
age 57



Boston Borough Council KPIs 

Operations Performance 
Latest 
Value 

Target 

OPB001 Percentage of household waste collected for recycling and composting K 39.73% 41% 

OPB002 Percentage of recycling collected that is contaminated and unable to be recycled     28.00% 

OPB003 Percentage of fly-tips collected within 3 working days of being reported J 95.77% 95.00% 

OPB004 Market stall occupancy rate - percentage occupied against the target     70.00% 

Planning Performance 
Latest 
Value 

Target 

PLB001 Percentage of major planning applications determined within 13/16 weeks L 0.00% 65.00% 

PLB002 Percentage of minor planning application determined within 8 weeks L 54.35% 75.00% 

PLB003 Percentage of other planning applications determined within 8 weeks K 74.60% 75.00% 

Commentary: These are new measures for planning, which relate purely to the statutory deadlines and do not include agreed extensions as previously and as measured 
nationally. For comparison, these performance measures all exceed the national minimum requirement (major applications 100% (national target 60%); minor applications 
93.48% (national target 70%); other applications 93.65% (national target 70%). There are many reasons applications can go beyond their statutory period (e.g. negotiations, 
amendments, Committee decisions etc). However, most of these are subsequently determined 'in time' through longer periods agreed with agents/applicants. In addition, the 
ongoing changes and general workloads within the service will impact on performance in the short term. 

Regulations Performance 
Latest 
Value 

Target 

RGB001 Percentage of food premises inspections completed against the Food Standards Agency annual inspection plan L 62.77% 100.00% 

Commentary: During this quarter the covid response has been the focus for our Environmental Health teams, responding to service requests and providing business advice. 
The focus of the team has shifted to planning and delivering the Food Standards Agency (FSA) Recovery Plan for Local Authorities and re-commencing routine food premises 
inspections, suspended by the FSA until 30th June, now that businesses are re-opening following the easing of national restrictions. 

PSPS Performance 
Latest 
Value 

Target 

PSB001 Time to process new Benefit claims (days) [BR&BIND005a] L 22.70 10.00 

Commentary: Quarter 1 results reflect the first quarter after a ‘lift and transfer’ of colleagues and associated services from to PSPS and as such performance is likely to be the 
same as it would have been if services remained. In due course, and after our respective benefits systems are aligned, PSPS will be able to provide much greater flexibility and 
resilience to peaks in demand such as those experienced in Q1 of this year. Volumes are unprecedented, with a 38% incoming work increase compared to last year, and this 
data excludes the Track and Trace processing which is adding further operational demand. PSPS have already implemented an automated process which is speeding up our 
response rates for many claimants. We have also reduced the inherited backlog down from 11,000 documents to 2,000. We are confident that processing times will improve 
for the rest of 2021/22, but we also note that in these unprecedented times forecasting is very difficult and we need to consider the possible impact of the furlough scheme 
ending shortly. Performance in this area is monitored daily. 

PSB002 Time to process Benefit change events (days) [BR&BIND005b] J 12.35 14.00 

PSB003 Council Tax collection rate [BR&BIND003] J 26.94% 26.00% 

PSB004 NDR collection rate [BR&BIND002] J 34.61% 30.00% 
 

P
age 58



Performance Detail 

Assistant Directorate: Assets 

 

 

  

Latest Target Performance YoY Trend

63.59% 100.00% L N/A

ASB001 - Percentage of car parking income received against agreed budget

Lead

Andy Fisher

Ticket sales and permit income combined.

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00%

120.00%

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4

Current Performance Previous Year's performance Set Target

Latest Target Performance YoY Trend

104.30% 100.00% J N/A

ASB002 - Percentage of commercial rent received against agreed budget

Lead

Andy Fisher

No commentary received.

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00%

120.00%

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4

Current Performance Previous Year's performance Set Target

Page 59



Assistant Directorate: Housing and Wellbeing 

 

 

 

 

Latest Target Performance YoY Trend

25 20 J 

HWB001 - Number of properties improved through Council intervention

Lead

Jon Challen

No commentary received.

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4

Current Performance Previous Year's performance Set Target

Latest Target Performance YoY Trend

70.00% 

HWB002 - Percentage of cases opened at homelessness prevention stage (i.e. before they have 

become homeless)

Lead

Jon Challen

Officers are trying to establish whether this information is available from BBC Housing IT system.  

Cases will be moved onto the ELDC system by the end of September and will then be available.  

Data could be available sooner depending upon when the HCLIC data is published by MHCLG.

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4

Current Performance Previous Year's performance Set Target

Page 60



 

 

 

Latest Target Performance YoY Trend

70.00% N/A

HWB003 - Percentage of homelessness cases that were opened at homelessness prevention 

stage that resulted in the customer not becoming homeless

Lead

Jon Challen

Officers are trying to establish whether this information is available from BBC Housing IT system.  

Cases will be moved onto the ELDC system by the end of September and will then be available.  

Data could be available sooner depending upon when the HCLIC data is published by MHCLG.

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00%

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4

Current Performance Previous Year's performance Set Target

Latest Target Performance YoY Trend

5 0 L 

HWB004 - Number of verified rough sleepers (quarterly snapshot, verified at street count)

Lead

Jon Challen

For the previous years figure, accommodation was available for all rough sleepers due to Covid 

and Everyone In initiative including for people with no recourse to public funds. This is no longer 

available however accommodation is still offered where possible. Some of those on the street 

were provided with accommodation and were evicted following numerous warnings. Officers are 

working with Immigration to establish whether the others are eligible for housing. Achieving zero 

is very challenging but this is the Government's aim so we are trying to achieve this figure. 

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4

Current Performance Previous Year's performance Set Target

Page 61



 

Assistant Directorate: Organisation and Corporate Services 

 

  

Latest Target Performance YoY Trend

0 N/A

HWB005 - Number of families with children placed into B&B for more than 6 calendar weeks

Lead

Jon Challen

No data received.

0

0

0

1

1

1

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4

Current Performance Previous Year's performance Set Target

Latest Target Performance YoY Trend

61.58% 84.00% L N/A

OCA001 - Percentage of Alliance workforce who said 'yes' when asked if they felt valued at work

Lead

James Gilbert

The response rate for this survey was 31% of the workforce. Action was taken to try and drive up 

completion rates, including attendance at Operations Depots. There was a notable increase in 

completion in Operations. However, Covid restrictions did limit face-to-face activity on driving up 

completion of the survey. It is hoped that more activity will be able to be undertaken for the next 

quarter as national restrictions are lifted. The Values & Behaviours for the Strategic Alliance was 

launched on 1st July 2021. This includes a plan of embedding activity currently running up to 

March 2022. 

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00%

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4

Current Performance Previous Year's performance Set Target

Page 62



Assistant Directorate: Operations 

 

 

 

Latest Target Performance YoY Trend

28.00% N/A

OPB002 - Percentage of recycling collected that is contaminated and unable to be recycled

Lead

Victoria Burgess

No data received.

0.00%

5.00%

10.00%

15.00%

20.00%

25.00%

30.00%

Quarter 4 20/21 Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3

Current Performance Previous Year's performance Set Target

Page 63



 

 

 

 

  

Latest Target Performance YoY Trend

95.77% 95.00% J N/A

OPB003 - Percentage of fly-tips collected within 3 working days of being reported

Lead

Victoria Burgess

No commentary received.

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00%

120.00%

Quarter 4 20/21 Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3

Current Performance Previous Year's performance Set Target

Latest Target Performance YoY Trend

70.00% N/A

OPB004 - Market stall occupancy rate - percentage occupied against the target

Lead

Victoria Burgess

No data received.

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4

Current Performance Previous Year's performance Set Target

Page 64



Assistant Directorate: Planning 

 

 

 

Latest Target Performance YoY Trend

0.00% 65.00% L N/A

PLB001 - Percentage of major planning applications determined within 13/16 weeks

Lead

Mike Gildersleeves

This performance measure exceeds the national minimum requirement. Major applications 

commonly are those which require negotiations, amendments, Committee decisions or legal 

agreements. Hence a number of the majors going beyond the statutory period, but largely these 

are determined 'in time' through longer periods agreed with agents/applicants.

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4

Current Performance Previous Year's performance Set Target

Latest Target Performance YoY Trend

54.35% 75.00% L N/A

PLB002 - Percentage of minor planning application determined within 8 weeks

Lead

Mike Gildersleeves

This performance measure exceeds the national minimum requirement. There are many reasons 

applications can go beyond their statutory period (eg negotiations, amendments, Committee 

decisions etc). However, most of these are subsequently determined 'in time' through longer 

periods agreed with agents/applicants. In addition, the ongoing changes and general workloads 

within the service will impact on performance in the short term.

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4

Current Performance Previous Year's performance Set Target

Page 65



 

Assistant Directorate: Regulations 

 

Latest Target Performance YoY Trend

62.77% 100.00% L N/A

RGB001 - Percentage of food premises inspections completed against the Food Standards Agency 

annual inspection plan

Lead

Christian Allen 

During this quarter the covid response has been the focus for our EH teams, responding to service 

requests and providing business advice. The focus of the team has shifted to planning and 

delivering the Food Standards Agency Recovery Plan for Local Authorities and re-commencing 

routine food premises inspections, suspended by the FSA until 30th June, now that businesses 

are re-opening following the easing of national restrictions. Recruitment has commenced to fill 

vacancies in the establishment at East Lindsey with interim support being provided across the 

alliance team to ensure recovery plans remain on track. 

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00%

120.00%

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4

Current Performance Previous Year's performance Set Target

Latest Target Performance YoY Trend

74.60% 75.00% K N/A

PLB003 - Percentage of other planning applications determined within 8 weeks

Lead

Mike Gildersleeves

This performance measure exceeds the national minimum requirement. There are many reasons 

applications can go beyond their statutory period (eg negotiations, amendments, Committee 

decisions etc). However, most of these are subsequently determined 'in time' through longer 

periods agreed with agents/applicants. In addition, the ongoing changes and general workloads 

within the service will impact on performance in the short term.

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4

Current Performance Previous Year's performance Set Target

Page 66



Assistant Directorate: PSPS 

 

Latest Target Performance Trend

22.70 10.00 L N/A

PSB001 - Time to process new Benefit claims (days) [BR&BIND005a]

Lead

Phil Perry

Quarter 1 results reflect the first quarter after a ‘lift and transfer’ of colleagues and associated 

services from BBC to PSPS and as such performance is likely to be the same as it would have been 

if services remained. In due course, and after our respective benefits systems are aligned, PSPS 

will be able to provide much greater flexibility and resilience to peaks in demand such as those 

experienced in Q1 of this year. Volumes are unprecedented, with a 38% incoming work increase 

compared to last year, and this data excludes the Track and Trace processing which is adding 

further operational demand. PSPS have already implemented an automated process which is 

speeding up our response rates for many claimants. We have also reduced the inherited backlog 

down from 11,000 documents to 2,000. We are confident that processing times will improve for 

the rest of 2021/22, but we also note that in these unprecedented times forecasting is very 

difficult and we need to consider the possible impact of the furlough scheme ending shortly. 

Performance in this area is monitored daily.

0.00

5.00

10.00

15.00

20.00

25.00

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4

Current Performance Previous Year's performance Target

Page 67



 

Latest Target Performance Trend

12.35 14.00 J N/A

PSB002 - Time to process Benefit change events (days) [BR&BIND005b]

Lead

Phil Perry

Quarter 1 results reflect the first quarter after a ‘lift and transfer’ of colleagues and associated 

services from BBC to PSPS and as such performance is likely to be the same as it would have been 

if services remained. In due course, and after our respective benefits systems are aligned, PSPS 

will be able to provide much greater flexibility and resilience to peaks in demand such as those 

experienced in Q1 of this year. Volumes are unprecedented, with a 38% incoming work increase 

compared to last year, and this data excludes the Track and Trace processing which is adding 

further operational demand. PSPS have already implemented an automated process which is 

speeding up our response rates for many claimants. We have also reduced the inherited backlog 

down from 11,000 documents to 2,000. We are confident that processing times will improve for 

the rest of 2021/22, but we also note that in these unprecedented times forecasting is very 

difficult and we need to consider the possible impact of the furlough scheme ending shortly. 

Performance in this area is monitored daily.

11.50

12.00

12.50

13.00

13.50

14.00

14.50

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4

Current Performance Previous Year's performance Target

Page 68



 

 

 

Latest Target Performance Trend

26.94% 26.00% J  Phil Perry

Performance on target.

Lead

PSB003 - Council Tax collection rate [BR&BIND003]

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00%

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4

Current Performance Previous Year's performance Set Target

Latest Target Performance Trend

34.61% 30.00% J 

Performance on target.

PSB004 - NDR collection rate [BR&BIND002]

Lead

Phil Perry

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00%

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4

Current Performance Previous Year's performance Set Target

Page 69



This page is intentionally left blank



Key for RAG reporting: Time / Finance / Project resource / Outcomes / Risk 

Appendix B: BBC Q1 Project updates 2021/22 

Project name / details 
Assistant 
Director 

Project Lead Budget 
Latest 
update 

Progress to date T F P O R Next milestone 
Completion 

date 

Recovery project: Council 
Assets - encourage start-
ups and grown-ons in 
vacant property owned or 
controlled by the Council 

Andy Fisher 
Duncan 
Hollingworth 

£2k 
(marketing) 

26/7/21 

Limited progress has been 
made with the disposal or 
reuse of major assets, eg 
Tedder Hall or Skegness 
Town Hall, however, 
industrial land in Louth has 
all but been taken by the 
market, Boston Business 
Centre is fully occupied 
with growing interest and 
demand and Council 
concessions and other 
commercial property across 
the Alliance area retain very 
high occupancy rates.  
Mablethorpe Business 
Centre is the only key 
assets that has lower 
occupancy rates than 
desired.  resources are 
however limited to day job 
resources. 

       

Recovery project: Council 
Rents - help to protect 
existing and distressed 
businesses that occupy 
council owned property 
through sympathetic and 
supportive management 
of rents 

Andy Fisher 
Duncan 
Hollingworth  

- 26/7/21 

The Property team, in 
regular consultation with 
the Portfolio Holder have 
maintained a very active 
role in managing 
commercial arrears.  The 
peak debt of over £1 million 
in September 2020 has 
been reduced to just over 
£300k as at July 2021 with 
bespoke arrangements in 

       

P
age 71



Key for RAG reporting: Time / Finance / Project resource / Outcomes / Risk 

Project name / details 
Assistant 
Director 

Project Lead Budget 
Latest 
update 

Progress to date T F P O R Next milestone 
Completion 

date 

place with a number of 
tenants.  The Council has 
taken a ‘firm but fair’ 
position with arrears and 
will continue to assess each 
case on its specific merits.  
As recovery for businesses 
is a long haul, the risk of 
arrears to the Council 
should remain amber until 
pre-covid levels are 
achieved. 

Recovery project: 
Targeted acquisition of 
vacant and under-used 
premises for 
redevelopment 

Andy Fisher 
Michelle 
Sacks 

TBA 
Option 1: 
£2m+ 
Option 2: 
£1m+ 
Option 3: 
c£50-100k 

26/7/21 

This project will be aligned 
to the opportunities of 
Boston’s Levelling Up Bid 
and East Lindsey’s Investors 
in the Coast.  Models for 
holding assets are being 
developed that should 
facilitate significant 
redevelopment through 
utilisation of external 
resources.  The model 
would see resources 
recycled to continue the 
repurposing of underused 
premises. 

       

HM Land Registry 
Migration Project 
(Boston) 

Christian 
Allen 

Jade Dicrosta 

£60k HMLR 
transition 
funding; £14k 
estimated 
new burdens 
payment; 
£35k to fund 
project 

18/7/21 

Brief agreed; project 
commenced June 21 to go 
live April 2023 (subject to 
confirmation with HMLR) 

      

April 23 
(subject to 

confirmation 
with HMLR) 

P
age 72



Key for RAG reporting: Time / Finance / Project resource / Outcomes / Risk 

Project name / details 
Assistant 
Director 

Project Lead Budget 
Latest 
update 

Progress to date T F P O R Next milestone 
Completion 

date 

support 
officer for 18 
months 

Recovery project: Rapid 
Community Testing and 
Vaccination Site Support 

Christian 
Allen 

Kristina 
Willoughby 

External 
funding and 
existing 
resources 

7/7/21 

New Testing from 7 July. 
Three teams will work as 
‘roving’ Outreach and 
Engagement teams across 
the East Lindsey and Boston 
areas. 

     
Deploy Team to 

sites 
March 22 

Migration to 
Uniform/LALPAC – Boston 
Borough Council (ADP PLN 
/ OCS 4.1) 

John Medler 
Nickie 
McDonald 

tbc following 
procurement 
and subject 
to member 
agreement 

25/6/21 

Initial Boston Procurement 
meeting held on 14/6/21; 
paused to further review 
requirements and direction 
of travel 

     
Procurement – 

June 21 to 
September 

July 23 

Joint Cultural Strategy 
(ADP EG 2.2; EG 2.7; EG 
7.1) 

Lydia Rusling 

Lydia Rusling 
/ Martin Kay 
/ Luke 
Skerritt 

Funding from 
ACE 

27/7/21 

Meeting with ACE to agree 
revised timeline, which has 
subsequently been 
approved.  

     

Detailed plan 
for project 

timeline to be 
submitted to 

ACE. 
Commissioning 
of consultancy 

(MV). 

December 
2021 

Boston Town Deal 
 
PE21 project (ADP AST 
2.1) 

Lydia Rusling 
Lydia Rusling 
/ Sharon 
Warner 

£21.9m 30/6/21 

£21.9m awarded from the 
Government’s Towns Fund 
scheme in March 2021. 
Detailed business cases 
being drawn up for each 
project. 
 
Boston Station project – 
business case by Dec21 
 
Healing the High Street 
project already underway 
with stunning shop fronts 

     

Detailed 
business cases 

and project 
timelines 

 

P
age 73



Key for RAG reporting: Time / Finance / Project resource / Outcomes / Risk 

Project name / details 
Assistant 
Director 

Project Lead Budget 
Latest 
update 

Progress to date T F P O R Next milestone 
Completion 

date 

and grant support to 
businesses and property 
owners 
 
Blenkin Memorial Hall and 
Chained Library St Botolphs 
projects - both of these 
projects are advanced and 
the outline business cases 
were noted as exemplar by 
MHCLG who welcomed 
proposals to progress these 
projects with condensed 
full business cases and final 
monitoring and evaluation 
forms by end of July to 
allow early drawdown of 
funds.  
 
Smarter Homes project - 
project sponsor to be 
confirmed at the next 
meeting 
 
Accelerated Towns Fund 
project, Experience Boston, 
launched in June 2021. 
 
Levelling Up Fund bid for 
£20m: creation of a new 
integrated hub and learning 
centre; development of 
new urban living with 
contemporary housing, 
hospitality and retail uses; 

P
age 74



Key for RAG reporting: Time / Finance / Project resource / Outcomes / Risk 

Project name / details 
Assistant 
Director 

Project Lead Budget 
Latest 
update 

Progress to date T F P O R Next milestone 
Completion 

date 

town centre greening 
project. Outcome 
anticipated in the Autumn. 

Recovery project: Car 
parks - identify, enable 
and promote more 
attractive uses e.g. for 
eating out/ café culture, 
public seating 

Lydia Rusling Lisa. J Collins 

£100k-£250k 
(marketing, 
engagement, 
wayfinding, 
signage) 

27/7/21 
Implemented in Louth with 
support from Active Travel 
Fund/LCC. 

       

Recovery project: Digital 
Marketing - swift 
implementation of a 
digital marketing tool 
across the Alliance’s area 
to help the leisure and 
tourism industry take full 
advantage of any increase 
is “Staycations” 

Lydia Rusling Lisa J. Collins 
£300k 
(business 
support) 

27/7/21 

Forms part of both 
Council’s Visitor Economy 
Resilience Plans. Draft 
agreement and delivery 
schedule finalised and 
procurement advice sought. 

     

Transfer 
funding to 

enable service 
delivery.  

March 22 

Recovery project: Events - 
programme tailored to 
the particular reputation 
of each place/market 
town (e.g. Taste 
Lincolnshire events linked 
to a new digital marketing 
platform; food festivals; 
antiques and craft fairs) 

Lydia Rusling TBC 
£21k (project 
officer) 
£50k (events) 

27/7/21 

Events Officer appointment 
approved as part of 
Economic Growth Service 
Review. Job description 
produced. 

     
Awaiting job 
evaluation. 

Recruitment. 
March 22 

Recovery project: Extend 
the seasons on the coast 
(including grant support 
to gap fund skills/jobs) 

Lydia Rusling JMS TBC 27/7/21 
Proposal to utilise 
remaining ARG to fund a 
recovery grant programme. 

     

Policy and 
briefing to be 

agreed. Launch 
and 

administration. 

March 22 

Recovery project: Shop 
fronts and shop 
improvement grants to 

Lydia Rusling 
Lisa J. Collins 
/ MG / Emilie 
Wales 

£375k 27/7/21 
See update from MG on 
Vacant shops - encourage 
“pop-up” uses or window 

     
See update 
from MG. 

 
 

P
age 75



Key for RAG reporting: Time / Finance / Project resource / Outcomes / Risk 

Project name / details 
Assistant 
Director 

Project Lead Budget 
Latest 
update 

Progress to date T F P O R Next milestone 
Completion 

date 

bring vacant premises 
back into use and 
encourage ”living above 
the shop” 

dressing pending 
reletting/redevelopment. 
 
In addition there are shop 
frontage schemes funded 
by the towns fund for 
Mablethorpe and Skegness 
– both are led by Heritage 
Lincolnshire with support 
from Emilie Wales. Projects 
confirmed. 

Towns Fund 
Projects – full 
business case 
development. 

Recovery project: Survey 
businesses to identify 
opportunities for bespoke 
interventions 

Lydia Rusling JMS £5k 27/7/21 
Priority has been business 
grant administration. 

       

Boston City project Lydia Rusling Lydia Rusling Minimal 18/8/21 Project brief agreed by SLT      
Stakeholder 

Engagement – 
Sep/Oct21 

Application 
deadline 
08/12/21 

Boston Alternative Energy 
Facility – examination 
process (ADP PLN 2.1) 

Mike 
Gildersleeves 

Mike 
Gildersleeves 

N/A 4/7/21 

The BAEF submission has 
been made by the 
proposers, and has been 
accepted for examination. 
The submission is 
programmed for an 
examination in public to 
take place in September, 
with an anticipated decision 
early in 2022. 
BBC has recently entered in 
to a Planning Performance 
Agreement with the 
proposers, to ensure that 
the Council is adequately 
recompensed for any 
necessary work required in 

     

Awaiting 

confirmation of 

next steps and 

requirements 

from the 

Examining 

Authority 

Awaiting 
confirmation 
of next steps 

and 
requirements 

from the 
Examining 
Authority 

P
age 76



Key for RAG reporting: Time / Finance / Project resource / Outcomes / Risk 

Project name / details 
Assistant 
Director 

Project Lead Budget 
Latest 
update 

Progress to date T F P O R Next milestone 
Completion 

date 

order to fully engage with 
the examination process.  

Recovery project: 
Encouragement of 
economic activity and 
growth through the 
planning system 

Mike 
Gildersleeves 

 

Mostly within 
existing 
resources 
£15k 
(external 
review of 
Scheme of 
Delegation) 
£10k 
(external 
review of 
Validation 
procedures) 

4/7/21 

Since the 1st April Boston 
has reverted to the national 
requirements for validation 
of planning applications. 
This is in response to 
feedback from 
agents/architects, but also 
in response to the recovery 
plan by seeking to avoid un-
necessary and burdensome 
costs associated with 
submissions. 
 
The project is marked as 
Amber due to ongoing 
changes within the Planning 
Service to bring the ELDC 
and BBC teams together 
under OneTeam. In 
addition, there are areas of 
the service where key posts 
are vacant, and this in 
combination with general 
workload is leading to 
pressures within the 
existing teams. This can be 
managed to a degree 
through external resource, 
however, it does limit the 
services ability to do more 
proactive/forward thinking 
work as was proposed by 
this project. Additional 

       

P
age 77



Key for RAG reporting: Time / Finance / Project resource / Outcomes / Risk 

Project name / details 
Assistant 
Director 

Project Lead Budget 
Latest 
update 

Progress to date T F P O R Next milestone 
Completion 

date 

short-term capacity may 
also be required. 

Recovery project: Vacant 
shops - encourage “pop-
up” uses or window 
dressing pending 
reletting/redevelopment 

Mike 
Gildersleeves 

 
£50k 
(marketing & 
engagement) 

4/7/21 

There has been no 
significant activity on this 
project to date. 
This proposal did link to an 
initial idea for use of 
funding resulting from the 
Welcoming Back Fund, 
however, at this stage, no 
further work has been 
undertaken on establishing 
any future action or project. 
 
No specific budget or 
staffing resource has been 
identified to take this 
forward. Without additional 
resource, it is unlikely that 
there is sufficient capacity 
to take this forward.  
Decision over capacity and 
resourcing of this project 
needs to be taken - this 
needs to be proportionate 
to the extent of the project 
outcomes and possibilities 
– and indeed whether to 
take the project forward. 

       

Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy (ADP HWB 2.1; 
HWB 4.1) 

Jon Challen 
Roxanne 
Warwick 
(from 1 July) 

 23/7/21 

Lincolnshire District 
Councils are committed to 
developing an ambitious 
agenda for improving 
health and wellbeing in 
Lincolnshire.  

     1/10/21  

P
age 78



Key for RAG reporting: Time / Finance / Project resource / Outcomes / Risk 

Project name / details 
Assistant 
Director 

Project Lead Budget 
Latest 
update 

Progress to date T F P O R Next milestone 
Completion 

date 

 
Throughout the pandemic 
we have been working 
closely together and are 
collaborating to develop 
and demonstrate our role 
in the local health system. 
 
The recent Integrated Care 
System (ICS) policy 
underlines this importance 
of working together and 
Districts now have timely 
opportunity to influence. 
 
Integrated Care Systems 
have four key aims:  

 Improving population 
health and healthcare 

 Tackling unequal 
outcomes and access 

 Enhancing productivity 
and value for money 

 Helping the NHS to 
support broader social 
and economic 
development 

 
District leads have come 
together over the last few 
months to work on a 
District led Health & 
Wellbeing strategy 
 

P
age 79



Key for RAG reporting: Time / Finance / Project resource / Outcomes / Risk 

Project name / details 
Assistant 
Director 

Project Lead Budget 
Latest 
update 

Progress to date T F P O R Next milestone 
Completion 

date 

The Strategy has five 
emerging themes:  

 Housing and 
homelessness 

 Activity and wellbeing 

 Environment and climate 

 Economic inclusion 

 Community 
empowerment 

Integrated housing 
register and 
homelessness IT system 
(ADP HWB 4.1; HWB 6.1) 

Jon Challen Jason Oxby  23/7/21 

The Housing Register and 
revised Housing Allocation 
scheme went live on 28th 
June 2021. 
 
Boston applicants are 
reregistering on the new 
system and will all require 
to be re-assessed. 
 
Social Housing vacancies 
won’t be advertised on-line 
until at least August 
however applicants are 
being put forward through 
a direct let process rather 
than bidding in the 
meantime. 
 
The Homelessness part of 
the system is being 
configured for BBC use.  
The current homelessness 
system can continue to be 
used until later in the year 
if required. 

     1/10/21  

P
age 80



Key for RAG reporting: Time / Finance / Project resource / Outcomes / Risk 

Project name / details 
Assistant 
Director 

Project Lead Budget 
Latest 
update 

Progress to date T F P O R Next milestone 
Completion 

date 

Recovery project: 
Empowering healthy 
Communities (Community 
Champions Programme) 
(ADP HWB 1.1 / 1.3) 

Jon Challen 
Nichola 
Holderness 

£494,800 
(external 
funding) 

23/7/21 

Launch of Councillor Grant 
Scheme 5th July 2021. 
Follow up work planned 
through August and 
September to encourage 
uptake. 

     1/9/2021 31/3/23 

Rough sleeper 
accommodation (ADP 
HWB 1.2; HWB 1.1) 

Jon Challen Jason Oxby  23/7/21 

The properties in Skegness 
are not available as yet.  
Framework are assisting 
current occupiers of the 
accommodation to find 
alternative housing. 
 
Some of the properties in 
Boston are about ready to 
be moved into.  Nominees 
are being considered.   
 
Framework have been 
recruiting staff to manage 
the accommodation across 
the two districts. 

       

ICT infrastructure 
investment (ADP SSP / 
OCS 4.6) 
 
PSPS digital infrastructure 
projects (ADP SSP 6.1) 

Phil Perry Jackie Wright  24/6/21 

U4BW - The contract with 
Embridge Consulting to 
implement Unit4 for Boston 
Borough Council was 
agreed and signed on 21st 
June.  Work will now start 
between the assigned 
Embridge Project 
Management team and the 
PSPS Project Management 
Team to develop the 
project and resource plan 
over the coming weeks to 

     

Full Payroll go 
live is 

anticipated for 
Sept/Oct 2021. 

Summer 2022 

P
age 81



Key for RAG reporting: Time / Finance / Project resource / Outcomes / Risk 

Project name / details 
Assistant 
Director 

Project Lead Budget 
Latest 
update 

Progress to date T F P O R Next milestone 
Completion 

date 

establish and confirm the 
timetable to completion 
between now and 
spring/summer 2022.  
 
First4HR – Boston Data has 
been imported and is 
currently going through 
data checks.  A parallel 
payroll run is planned for 
early July with an 
anticipated go live for 
People Managers and 
Colleague Mid-July.  

Recovery project: 
Procurement alignment 
across the Alliance and 
opportunities for local 
businesses 

Phil Perry Phil Perry 
£5k (legal & 
procurement 
advice) 

24/6/21 

The loss of the 
procurement Officer has 
halted the alignment of 
Procurement policy across 
the Alliance temporarily.  It 
has also reduced capacity 
to support and advise 
Departments on 
Procurement/Contract 
management matters. 
Review of a Procurement 
Officer Job Description & 
Person Spec is in hand and 
recruitment to the post is 
to follow at the first 
opportunity 

     

To recruit to 

the vacant 

post. 
TBD 

Recovery project: 
Environmental 
improvements – Street 
Scene (Big Boston Clean 

Victoria 
Burgess 

Matt Fisher 
£26,500 
(additional 
flyswat team) 

26/8/21 
Funding now identified. 
Resource required to bring 
projects to fruition. 

       

P
age 82



Key for RAG reporting: Time / Finance / Project resource / Outcomes / Risk 

Project name / details 
Assistant 
Director 

Project Lead Budget 
Latest 
update 

Progress to date T F P O R Next milestone 
Completion 

date 

Up, Litter Champions, 
floral displays, fly-tipping) 

Recovery project: Markets 
– support to traders 

Victoria 
Burgess 

EB/KW 

£87,373 rent 

reduction 

(ARG) 

£5,800 
canopies & 
stewards 

26/8/21 

Free rent completed. 
Funding identified through 
the Welcome back fund. 
Improvements to stalls 
planned. 

       

 

P
age 83



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	A MINUTES
	3 POLICY  AND PROCEDURES ON THE REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACT 2000 (RIPA)
	Appendix A - East Lindsey District Council and Boston Borough Council Policy and Procedures on the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA) 2000

	4 QUARTER 1 REPORT - PERFORMANCE, PROJECTS, RISK AND FINANCE
	Appendix A - Quarter 1 Performance 2021-22
	Appendix B - Quarter 1 Project updates 2021-22


